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1. DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Your Directors present their report on the Company for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 
Gabriel Radzyminski Chairman & Non-Executive Director (Appointed 05/11/2010) 
James Chirnside Non-Executive Director (Appointed 05/11/2010) 
Alex Feher  Non-Executive Director (Appointed 05/11/2010) 
 
 
Don Christie  Chairman & Interim CEO (Resigned 05/11/2010) 
John Pereira Managing Director & CEO (Resigned 07/07/2010) 
David Carruthers Executive Director (Resigned 05/11/2010) 
Clifford Clayton Non-Executive Director (Resigned 05/11/2010) 
 
Gabriel Radzyminski, James Chirnside and Alex Feher have been in office since 5 
November 2011 to the date of this report. 
 
The Company Secretary during the financial year: 

Mark Licciardo (appointed 12 September 2007) 
 
Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the entity during the financial period were: 

• Investment in a portfolio of securities in listed Indian companies up until the 
capital return approved by shareholders on 7 July 2010; and 

• Investment in short term interest rate securities and cash.  In addition, the 
Board announced on 27 June 2011, its intention to selectively invest in share 
market opportunities that the Directors consider would offer the prospect of 
attractive risk-adjusted returns. 

 
There was a significant change in the nature of the entity‘s principal activities during 
the financial period. 
 
The previous Board terminated the Company‘s strategy of investing in Indian share 
markets when shareholders approved the return of capital on 7 July 2010.  See 
Significant Changes in State of Affairs as outlined below. 
 
Operating Results 
The Company generated Comprehensive Income, net of tax, for the year ended 30 
June 2011 Loss of $5.4m (2010: Profit $4.8m), and an Operating Profit, net of tax of 
$7.1m (2010: Loss $3.4m). 
 
The movement in Comprehensive Income and Operating Profit arises primarily from 
the realisation of gains via the systematic sell down of the Investment Portfolio during 
July 2010. 
 
During the year, the Company incurred a number of significant costs, including 
$705,702 in termination fees to two former directors and legal fees pertaining to the 
return of capital. Refer to Note 4 of the Financial Statements for further information. 
 
Comprehensive Income per share is a loss of 4.44 cents (2010: Profit 5.15 cents). 
The market price of the Company‘s shares decreased over the year from $0.62 per 
share at 30 June 2010 to $0.05 per share at 30 June 2011 (2010: increased from 
$0.50 per share to $0.62 per share). 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Operating Results (Continued) 
During the year the Net Tangible Assets (after tax) (NTA) decreased from $0.75 to 
$0.06 (2010:decreased from $0.85 to $0.75). 
 
This reduction in the current year share price and NTA is primarily due to the impact 
of the 13.7m additional shares issued during the period from the exercising of options 
that expired on 31 August 2010 and the $0.604117 per share return of capital 
completed on 20 August 2010. 
 
Since 31 December 2010, both Comprehensive Income and Operating Profit, net of 
Tax, have remained steady. 
 
Dividends Paid or Recommended 
No dividends were paid or are payable for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
Investments 
Since being appointed, the new directors have invested the Company‘s assets 
mainly in term deposits, earning relatively attractive nominal rates.  Notwithstanding 
the attractive interest rates, the Board has concluded that continuing to invest entirely 
in cash will not allow the investment to keep pace with inflation and ultimately will not 
be in the best interests of shareholders. 
 
The Board announced on 27 June 2011, its intention to selectively invest in share 
market opportunities that it considers offer the prospect for attractive risk-adjusted 
returns.  Directors will also seek out any opportunities that might provide franking 
credits, which in time may allow India Equities to attach these franking credits to 
dividends paid by the Company.  The Board will also look to propose a new name for 
the Company, which will be put to shareholders for approval at the AGM later this 
year. 
 
Financial Position 
The net assets of the Company now consist solely of cash, $7.1m compared with a 
predominance of listed Indian securities of $55.2m at 30 June 2010.  
 
During the year the total Financial Assets decreased from $81.8m to $7.3m.  
 
Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
The previous Board terminated the Company‘s strategy of investing in Indian equity 
markets when shareholders approved the return of capital on 7 July 2010.  Since 
being appointed in November 2010, the present directors have invested the assets of 
the Company in cash and term deposits, whilst undertaking a strategic review to 
determine what next steps might be appropriate for the Company. 
 
After Balance Date Events 
No other events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would 
require adjustment to, or disclosure in, the financial report. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
The Board continues to consider opportunities for the Company that might involve a 
significant change to its business operations.  
 
It intends to selectively invest in ASX listed share market opportunities that Directors 
consider offer the prospect for attractive risk-adjusted returns.  The Board will also 
seek out any opportunities that might provide franking credits, which in time may 
allow the Company to attach these franking credits to dividends paid by the 
Company. 
 
The Board has asked its Chairman, Gabriel Radzyminski to put forward a proposal to 
take on an additional role as investment manager for the Company.  Upon the 
agreement of employment terms, the Company shall advise the market of these and 
will at the same time announce the guidelines under which the portfolio will be 
managed. 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
Together with Board member James Chirnside, an Investment Committee will be 
constituted that will ensure the investments conform to the portfolio guidelines.  
Directors will also look to propose a new name for the Company, which will be put to 
shareholders for approval at the AGM later this year. 
  
Environmental Issues 
The Company's operations are such that they are not directly affected by 
environmental regulations. 
 
Information on Directors and Company Secretary 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski — Chairman and Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

Qualifications 
— Bachalor of Arts (Honours) 

Master of Commerce (Finance) 

Experience 
— Gabriel is founder and Managing Director of 

Sandon Capital Pty Ltd, a boutique investment 
management and advisory firm.  He is portfolio 
manager of the Sandon Capital Activist Fund, a 
fund targeting underperforming companies.  
Sandon Capital also provides advisory services 
to shareholders seeking to implement activist 
strategies. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

— Nil  

Special Responsibilities — Chairman of Directors, Audit & Risk Committee 
and Remuneration Committee member. 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities 

— RHG Limited and Wallace Absolute Return Ltd 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities within the last 3 
years 

— Nil 
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1.  DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Information on Directors and Company Secretary (Continued) 
 

Mr. James Chirnside — Independent Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications — Nil 

Experience 
— James has been focused in emerging markets 

and absolute return investment management for 
twenty-one years in Melbourne, Sydney, Hong 
Kong, and London.  
James is Managing Director of Asia Pacific 
Asset Management, a specialist emerging 
market investment firm based in Sydney.  
James previously worked for Challenger 
Financial Group and prior to that was country 
head for India, Indonesia and Australia whilst at 
Regent Fund Management in Hong Kong and 
London.  James has also worked for County 
NatWest in London as head of proprietary 
trading for Asia and focused on country funds 
and arbitrage strategies. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

— Nil  

Special Responsibilities — Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee and 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
member. 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities 

— WAM Capital Limited and Cadence Capital 
Limited 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities within the last 3 
years 

— 
 
Nil 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Information on Directors and Company Secretary (Continued) 
 

Mr. Alex Feher — Independent Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications — B.Sc Mech Eng. MSc Ind Eng. 

Experience — 
Alex is the CEO of CPDlive, a privately owned 
company providing online learning and 
communications platforms to organisations. He 
also advises organisations in growth strategy 
and developing values based leadership. He 
has gained broad experience running 
businesses including as Australian Managing 
Director for international events and web 
companies. He has advised and worked with 
senior executives across diverse industries 
including events, funds management, 
manufacturing, biotech, property development, 
IT services and education. 

 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

— Nil 

Special Responsibilities — Chairman of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee and Audit & Risk Committee 
member. 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities 

— Nil 

Directorships held in other 
listed entities within the last 3 
years 

— Nil 

 

Mark Licciardo   Company Secretary 

Qualifications  B.Bus (Acc), GradDip CSP, FCIS, MAICD 

Experience  Mr Licciardo is Managing Director of Mertons 
Corporate Services Pty Ltd (Mertons) which 
provides company secretarial and corporate 
governance consulting services to ASX listed 
and unlisted public and private companies. Prior 
to establishing Mertons, Mr Licciardo was 
Company Secretary of the Transurban Group 
(2004-07) and Australian Foundation Investment 
Company Limited, Djerriwarrh Investments 
Limited, AMCIL Limited and Mirrabooka 
Investments Limited (1997-04). Mr Licciardo has 
also had an extensive commercial banking 
career with the Commonwealth Bank and State 
Bank Victoria. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Information on Directors and Company Secretary (Continued) 
 
The following Directors resigned during the current financial year: 
 

Mr. David Carruthers   

Qualifications — BComm, CA, CFTP(Snr), MAICD Dip 

Experience — During a career with BP Finance, Mr Carruthers 
was CFO for the global operations based in 
London and the European Regional CEO based 
in Brussels. On returning to Australia he became 
Managing Director of Treasury Corporation of 
Victoria, provided advisory services in financial 
risk management to clients in the Asia-Pacific 
region, has non-executive director experience 
with ASX listed companies and is currently Head 
of Corporate Finance, Tristar Corporate Advisors 
Pty Ltd and CFO, Atlas Capital Management Ltd. 

Mr. Clifford Clayton   

Qualifications — AACI, SA Fin 

Experience — During a 25 year career with Perpetual Trustees, 
Mr Clayton acquired substantial experience in the 
operational and compliance aspects of funds 
management. He has subsequently applied this 
experience to the Compliance Committees of 
Affinity Funds Management, Australian Public 
Trustees Limited, Drapac Limited, Legg Mason 
and BNY Mellon Asset Management Limited.  Mr 
Clayton is also a current Director of Secure 
Funding Pty Limited. He was formerly a Director 
of Perpetual Trustees Victoria Limited, Macarthur 
Cook Investment Manager, AXA GESP Limited 
and Coles Group ESP. 

Mr. Don Christie   

Qualifications — LLB, LLM, Dip App Fin, Mtax 

Experience — Mr Christie was Managing Director of Equity 
Trustees, a former President of the Australian 
Trustees Corporations Associations and 
previously Chairman of VPH Limited. These 
positions followed regulatory roles with the 
predecessors of ASIC. He is currently a Director 
of Australian Public Trustees Limited and a 
member of Markets Supervision, Quotation 
Appeals Committees and the Appeals Tribunal for 
Australian Pacific Exchange Limited. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Information on Directors and Company Secretary (Continued) 
 
The following Directors resigned during the current financial year: 
 
Mr. John Pereira 

Qualifications — BJuris, LLB 

Experience — After an extensive career encompassing funds 
management, banking and law, Mr Pereira 
joined Burdett Buckeridge Young (BBY) where 
he held the positions of Head of Private Advisory 
and head of Corporate Finance. He formed 
Alchemy Corporate Advisors Pty Ltd jointly with 
BBY to promote corporate advisory and capital 
raising for small/mid cap clients. After leaving 
BBY he established Tristar Corporate Advisors 
Pty Ltd providing corporate advice to a range of 
private and ASX listed companies.  

  Mr Pereira was the founder and promoter of 
Olympus Funds Management Pty Limited, India 
Equities Fund Ltd, Asia Diversified Funds Ltd, 
Greater Asia Investments Ltd and Atlas Capital 
Management Ltd. 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 
 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of India 
Equities Fund Limited. The current employees of the Company are three Non-
Executive Directors. All Directors are on a salary and the Company Secretary under 
agreement with Mertons Corporate Services Pty Ltd. 
 
Remuneration policy 
 
The Board‘s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The Remuneration Committee determines 
payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, 
based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is 
sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to 
Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance 
of the Company. However, to align Directors‘ interests with shareholder interests, the 
Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company. 
 
Where specialist services beyond the normal expectations of a Non-Executive 
Director are provided to the company, payment will be made on a normal commercial 
basis. Works under this arrangement have been carried out by Gabriel Radzyminski 
through Sandon Capital Pty Limited at arms-length market rates. Further details are 
contained in Note 25. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (Continued) 
 
The agreements with former Chief Executive Officer and Company Director Mr John 
Pereira through Starr Corporation Pty Ltd and Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd, 
were terminated by mutual agreement on 7 July 2010. The details of his termination 
payments are outlined below. 
 
The Company entered into an agreement with Starr Corporation Pty Ltd (the 
Consultant) on 16 May 2007 to provide the services of Mr John Pereira from 5 April 
2007. The agreement was for an initial term of five years. The Company had the right 
to terminate the agreement without cause, subject to payment of twelve months fees. 
The fee payable to the Consultant was $266,336 pa (plus GST) at 7 July 2010, when 
the contract was terminated.  
 
Upon the acquisition of Olympus, the Group acquired the rights and obligations of an 
existing contract between Olympus and the Consultant entered into on 15 November 
2007 to provide the services of Mr John Pereira from 5 April 2007. That agreement 
was for an initial term of five years. Olympus had the right to terminate the agreement 
without cause, subject to payment of twelve months fees. The fee payable to the 
Consultant was $137,420 pa (plus GST), at 7 July 2010, when the contract was 
terminated.  
 
The settlement payment in relation to these contracts comprised: 
 

 12 months agreed termination payment under both agreements (the 
Company $266,336, Olympus $137,420); and 

 6 months fees under both agreements in recognition of Mr Pereira‘s 
contribution as founder and promoter of the Company and Olympus Funds 
Management along with the remaining 21 months of the contact term (the 
Company $133,168, Olympus $68,710). 

 
The agreement with former Chief Financial Officer Mr David Carruthers through TCA 
Advisors (TCA) was entered into on 24 June 2009 to provide the services of Mr 
David Carruthers as CFO from 1 April 2009 until 5 November 2011.  
 
The Company had the right to terminate the agreement without cause, subject to 
payment of six months fees. The termination fee payable to TCA at the date of this 
report was $102,900 (plus GST). These fees are not linked to the performance of the 
Company. 
 
Mr Don Christie was appointed as Interim CEO in addition to his responsibilities as 
Chairman. The following arrangement applied in place of the Non- Executive Director 
fee of $60,000 p.a. that would otherwise have been payable. 
 

Duration of 
Agreement 

The Agreement was for an initial period of 4 months, commencing 
on 7 July 2010 and continuing until 6 November 2010.   

Remuneration Gross base salary of $25,000 per month (exclusive of 
superannuation) with no performance based remuneration. 

Termination The contract was for a fixed term of four months unless extended 
by the Company. If extended, it was subject to 1 months notice in 
writing by either party. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (Continued) 
 
Mr Don Christie‘s appointment was terminated on 5 November 2010 as per the 
above agreement, one months notice was given and no further termination of director 
fees were due and payable. 
 
Subsequent to the termination of Mr Don Christie and Mr David Carruthers, Mr 
Gabriel Radzyminski, Mr Alexander Feher and Mr James Chirnside were appointed 
to the board on 5 November 2010. 
 
Directors’ Remuneration 
 
The remuneration policy has been tailored to align the interest between 
shareholders, executive directors and executives. 
 

 
Employee 

Short-Term Benefits 

Post -
Employment 

Benefits 
 Cash, Salary 

& 
Commission

s 

Cash 
Profit 
Share 

Non-
Cash 

Benefit 

Termin-
ation 

Superan-
nuation 

2011 $ $ $ $ $ 

Directors      

Mr. James Chirnside 9,833 - - - 885 

Mr. Alex Feher 9,833 - - - 885 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski 9,833 - - - 885 

Mr. Don Christie 100,923 - - - 9,083 

Mr. John Pereira 7,598 - - 602,802 - 

Mr. David Carruthers 68,600 - - 102,900 - 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - - - 10,417 

 206,620 - - 705,702 22,155 

 
 

 Other Long-
Term 

Benefits 
Share-Based 

Payments Total 
Performance 

Related 

 Other Equity Options   

2011 $ $ $ $ % 

Directors      

Mr. James Chirnside - - - 10,718 0.00% 

Mr. Alex Feher - - - 10,718 0.00% 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski - - - 10,718 0.00% 

Mr. Don Christie - - - 110,006 0.00% 

Mr. John Pereira - - - 610,400 0.00% 

Mr. David Carruthers - - - 171,500 0.00% 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - - 10,417 0.00% 

 - - - 934,477  
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (Continued) 
 

 
 
 
 

Short-Term Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits 
 Cash, Salary 

& 
Commission

s 

Cash 
Profit 
Share 

Non-
Cash 

Benefit Other Superannuation 

2010 $ $ $ $ $ 

Directors      

Mr. Don Christie 66,000 - - - 5,400 

Mr. John Pereira 395,222 82,144 - - - 

Mr. David Carruthers 127,730 - - - - 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - - - 32,700 

 588,952 82,144 - - 38,100 

 

 

 Other 
Long-
Term 

Benefits 
Share-Based 

Payments Total 
Performance 

Related 

 Other Equity Options   

2010 $ $ $ $ % 

Directors      

Mr. Don Christie - - -   71,400 0.00% 

Mr. John Pereira - - - 477,366 17.20% 

Mr. David Carruthers - - -   127,730 0.00% 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - -   32,700 0.00% 

 - - - 709,196  

 
The Directors are the only people considered to be key management personnel of 
the company. 
 
Cash, salary and commissions shown above for Messrs Pereira and Carruthers in 
both 2011 and 2010 reflects consultancy services rendered during the period in 
accordance with the agreements referred to above. 
 
The total pool of Non-Executive Directors' Fees, excluding consultancy services, 
approved by the shareholders is currently $200,000 p.a. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (Continued) 
 
Meetings of Directors 
During the period, eight meetings of directors (and four committees of directors 
meetings) were held. 
 
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 
 

 Directors’ Committee Meetings 
 Meetings Audit & Risk Remuneration 
 Number 

Eligible 
to 

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible 

to Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible 

to 
Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Mr James Chirnside 8 8 1 1 - - 
Mr Alexander Feher 8 7 1 1 - - 
Mr Gabriel Radzyminski 8 8 1 1 - - 
Mr Don Christie2   3 3 1 1 - - 
Mr John Pereira1  1 1 - - - - 
Mr David Carruthers2  3 3 1 1 - - 
Mr Clifford Clayton2  3 3 1 1 - - 
Total Meetings Held 10 - 1 - - - 

 
1. John Pereira was not a member of the Audit & Risk Committee but attended by invitation.  He 

resigned as a Director effective 7 July 2010. 
2. Clifford Clayton, Don Christie and David Carruthers resigned effective 5 November 2010. 

 

Indemnifying Officers or Auditor 
During the financial year the Company has given an indemnity and entered into an 
agreement to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums. 
 
Specifically the Company has paid premiums to insure each of the Directors against 
liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal 
proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director of the 
Company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the 
Company. The amount of the premium was $37,855 in aggregate. 
 
Options  
The Company completed an underwritten 1:3 Renounceable Rights Issue at $0.40 
per share in September 2009. Some 77% of all shareholders took up their 
entitlement and as a result the Company issued 23,527,730 Shares and 23,527,730 
Options (exercisable at $0.40 each on or before 31 August 2010) to raise $9.4m 
before costs and expenses. A further $2.0m was raised through a private placement 
at $0.40 per share.  
 
These raisings enabled $10.0m to be added to the portfolio; however during June 
2010 the Company disposed of shares (within the constraints of the investment 
parameters) and transferred some $20.0m back to Australia. 
 
By 30 June 2010 some 9.0m Options had been exercised at $0.40 raising a further 
$3.6m that was retained as cash in Australia. At 30 June 2011, all options has either 
been exercised or lapsed. 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of Company 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
company or intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those 
proceedings. 
 
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period. 
 
Non-Audit Services 
The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit & Risk Committee, 
is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with 
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not 
compromise the external auditor‘s independence for the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Audit & Risk 
Committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not adversely affect the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles 
relating to auditor independence in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001 and APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 

 
The following fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to Moore Stephens 
during the year ended 30 June 2011: 
 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Taxation services 8,750 9,350 

Corporate advisory 22,200 - 

 30,950 9,350 
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1.   DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Auditors Independence Declaration 
The lead auditor‘s independence declaration as required under s.307c of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2011 has been received and is set 
out on page 28. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

 

Gabriel Radzyminski 
Chairman 

 

 

 

  

Dated  29 August 2011 
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2. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Introduction 
 
India Equities Fund Limited (―India Equities‖ or the ―Company‖) was admitted to the 
official list of the ASX on 5 April 2007. The Company was originally formed to provide 
shareholders with exposure to a portfolio of listed Indian public companies‘ securities.  
Following a change in strategic direction by the previous Board, ultimately leading to 
their replacement, the new directors, since being appointed have invested the 
Company‘s assets mainly in term deposits, earning relatively attractive nominal rates.   
 
The Board continues to consider opportunities for the Company and to this end, while 
continuing operating as an investment company, it plans to augment the Company‘s 
investments in cash and term deposits by including ASX listed securities.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing the corporate governance 
framework of the Company and establishing appropriate Corporate Governance 
policies and procedures having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
(CGC) published guidelines as set out in its ―Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations‖ (Revised 2010, 2nd Edition). The Board of Directors continues to 
review the framework and practices to ensure they meet the interests of 
shareholders. 
 
This Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the CGC‘s 
published guidelines containing eight key principles. The charters and policies 
described in this Corporate Governance Statement represent a concise version of 
those charters and policies that have been adopted by the Board of Directors in line 
with the CGC‘s recommendations having regard to the size of the company‘s 
operations.  The Company‘s Corporate Governance charters and policies are publicly 
available upon request.  
 

ASX CGC Principles and Recommendations Compliance 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight Yes 

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value Yes 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making Yes 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting Yes 

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure Yes 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders Yes 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk Yes 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly Yes 

 
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
Role of the India Equities Board and company management 
 
The Board of Directors of India Equities together with management are collectively 
experienced in the management of listed companies and portfolio and funds 
management. 
 
The Company‘s wholly owned subsidiary, Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd is 
the holder of an Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
The Board is responsible for providing strategic guidance and for contributing to the 
development of the corporate strategy and performance objectives, including the 
implementation of a business strategy, the annual budget, monitoring the Company‘s 
financial performance, meeting its regulatory reporting obligations and ensuring that 
appropriate management is in place to achieve these objectives.  The Board appoints 
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary. 
 
The Board approves and monitors management‘s corporate strategy and 
performance objectives for India Equities. Under the oversight of the Board‘s Audit & 
Risk Committee, the Board monitors risk, compliance and financial reporting. The 
Board is responsible for approving and monitoring the progress of existing 
investments, capital management and acquisitions and disposals of investment 
assets. 
 
The Board may delegate to a sub-committee, an officer of the company, or any other 
person in authority to perform any of its functions and exercise any of its powers, in 
the ordinary course of business. This includes the day to day administration of its 
investment assets, including ensuring that physical assets are adequately insured 
where necessary; that detailed market investigations and effective due diligence is 
carried out on proposed investments or acquisitions; that capital required to provide a 
platform for further investment and enhancement of the company‘s portfolios, as well 
as general working capital requirements is adequate; and that subject to the 
responsibility of the Board‘s Audit & Risk Committee there is effective risk 
management, financial management and compliance management of the Company‘s 
assets. 
 
The Board and its Committees are governed by their respective Charters. 
 
Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 
 
India Equities Board Structure 
 
The qualifications, skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director 
held by each director in office at the date of the annual report and their attendance at 
Board and Committee meetings is included in the Director‘s Report.  
 
The Board is comprised of three Directors and complies with the CGC‘s 
recommendation that Board‘s contain a majority of Independent Non-executive 
directors.  
 
Gabriel Radzyminski, (Chairman and Independent Non-executive)  
James Chirnside, (Independent Non-executive Director) 
Alex Feher, (Independent Non-executive Director) 
 
In accordance with the CGC‘s ―Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations‖, the recommendation that no independent Director holds more 
than 5% of the total shares on issue or that there is no material interest in the 
company that would impair independence has been met by all Directors. 
 
The Company supports the appointment of Directors who bring a wide range of 
business and professional skills and experience, details of which are recorded in the 
Directors‘ Report accompanying this Corporate Governance Statement.  Each 
Director has a three year term of office, at the end of which they retire and seek re-
election by shareholders as a Director. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 2: Structure the board to add value (Continued) 
 
Director induction and education 
 
The Company has, due to the Board‘s size, an informal induction process. New 
Directors are fully briefed about the nature of the business, current issues, the 
corporate strategy and the expectations of the Company concerning performance of 
Directors. Directors receive a formal letter of appointment setting out the key terms 
and conditions and corporate expectations relevant to that appointment. Directors are 
given access to continuing education opportunities to update and enhance their skills 
and knowledge. 
 
Pursuant to ASX CGC Principles, each Director has been issued with a Deed of 
Indemnity, Insurance and Access Agreement that will protect directors for up to 7 
years after their resignation in the event of a legal matter that the company may face 
in the future whilst they were a Director of the Company.  
 
Each Director is required to disclose any interest which might create a potential with 
their duties, as a Director of India Equities, or which would affect their independence. 
 
In order for Directors to bring independent judgement to bear in decision making, 
Directors have the right to obtain independent professional advice, if necessary, at 
the Company‘s expense. 
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
 
Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest 
 
The Board of India Equities is committed to the Code of Conduct.  This is 
communicated to management and requires staff to adhere to the core values, 
together with a number of other key attributes that have been identified as being 
imperative to the success of the Company. 
 
Employees must comply with all laws and regulations. This includes understanding 
the laws and regulations relevant to their work and complying with the legal 
requirements of the jurisdictions in which they operate. 
 
Employees should not engage in activities or hold or trade assets that involve, or 
could appear to involve, a conflict between their personal interests and the interests 
of the Company. 
 
Management is responsible to the Board for the Company‘s performance under this 
Code, and has operational responsibility for ensuring compliance with the Code. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making (Continued) 
 
The Code of Conduct aims to promote ethical and responsible decision making.  The 
Code of Conduct requires all employees to exhibit openness, honesty, fairness and 
integrity in their dealings, both internally and externally. India Equities aims for good 
corporate governance and generally requires employees to: 
 

 avoid situations which may give rise to a conflict of interest; 

 avoid situations where they may profit from their position with the Company and 
gain any benefit which competes with the Company‘s business; 

 comply with all laws and regulations and Company policies and procedures; 

 not undertake activities inconsistent with their employment with the Company; 

 properly use the Company‘s assets for legitimate business purposes; and 

 maintain privacy and confidentiality in both the Company‘s business and the 
information of its suppliers, customers and shareholders. 

 
Diversity 
 
India Equities recognises the value of attracting and retaining staff with different 
backgrounds, perspectives and experiences, including assisting it to attract and 
retain talented people and to foster innovation. 
 
The Company is committed to providing an inclusive workplace that embraces and 
promotes diversity and recognises that employees at all levels of the company may 
have domestic responsibilities in addition to those of their employment. 
 
Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity, cultural background, 
disability and sexual orientation. 
 
INE strives to create and maintain a diverse and supportive working environment, 
where: 

 There is tolerance of difference; 

 The ability to access opportunities within the Company is based on merit;  

 Structures and policies are in place to assist employees to balance their work 
and family commitments; and 

 Employee engagement and morale are maintained at the highest possible 
levels. 

 
Measurable Objectives 
 
Following a change of Board on 5 November 2010, the Directors have been 
undertaking a strategic review of the options available to the Company.  The Board 
will establish measurable diversity objectives for the Company when the future 
direction of the Company has been determined.   
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making (Continued) 
 
Monitoring and reporting 
 
Assessment of the diversity objectives and the progress made towards achieving 
them will be undertaken by the Remuneration Committee annually, who will report its 
assessment and any relevant recommendations to the Board. 
 
In the annual report, the Company will disclose: 

(a) the measurable diversity objectives adopted by the Company in accordance 
with this policy; and 

(b) progress towards achieving them. 
 
As part of this disclosure, the Company will disclose in its annual report the 
proportion of: 

(a) women employees across the organisation; 
(b) women in senior executive positions; and 
(c) women on the Board. 

 
As outlined above, monitoring and reporting by the Company is dependent upon 
determination of the future direction of the Company as outlined above. 
 
Whistleblowers 
 
The Company has developed a Whistleblower protection policy that provides 
Company officers, employees, independent contractors and their employees the 
opportunity to bring to the attention of management, conduct which is corrupt, illegal 
or unethical, without fear of reprisal, dismissal or discriminatory treatment. 
 
The Board has resolved that the Code of Conduct extends to guide compliance with 
legal and other obligations with respect to stakeholders. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
The Board of India Equities is committed to good corporate governance and aims for 
continuous improvement in these practices.  The Company embraces high ethical 
standards and requires its employees to demonstrate both personal and corporate 
responsibility.  Directors, officers and employees are required to safeguard the 
integrity of the Company and to act in the best interests of its stakeholders (generally, 
shareholders). 
 
There must be no conflict, or perception of a conflict, between the interests of any 
India Equities Director, officer or employee and the responsibility of that person to the 
Company and to the stakeholders.  All India Equities Directors, officers and 
employees may never improperly use their position for personal or private gain to 
themselves, a family member, or any other person (―associates‖). 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making (Continued) 
 
As a general rule, a conflict of interest, or the perception of a conflict, may arise if 
their duties involve any actual or potential business with a person, entity or 
organisation in which they or their associates have a substantial personal or financial 
interest.  Accordingly, the following rules apply: 
 

 Without prior Board approval, Directors, officers and employees may not act 
on behalf of the Company in connection with any business or potential 
business involving any person, entity or organisation in which they or their 
associates have direct or indirect managerial influence (such as serving as an 
Executive Officer, Director, general partner or similar position or holding a 
substantial ownership or beneficial interest); and 

 Where a potential conflict exists, this should be disclosed to the Chairman 
prior to any dealings taking place; and be declared at the next meeting of 
Directors. 

 
Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Audit & Risk Committee 
 
The Company has established an Audit & Risk Committee which currently comprises 
three independent non-executive directors. 
 
Purpose 
 
The Audit & Risk Committee plays a key role in assisting the Board of Directors with 
its responsibilities relating to accounting, developing internal control systems, 
reporting practices and risk management, and ensuring the independence of the 
Company Auditor.  The Charter for this Committee incorporates policies and 
procedures to ensure an effective focus from an independent perspective. 
 
The Audit & Risk Committee oversees and appraises the quality of the audits 
conducted by the Auditors of the Company.  Moore Stephens, Chartered 
Accountants, is the currently appointed Auditor of India Equities. Their appointment 
will be reviewed periodically. The Company believes in the ongoing assessment of its 
audit arrangements and complies with any regulatory requirements to rotate its 
external audit partner.  
 
The Audit & Risk Committee includes in its Charter a review of the effectiveness of 
administrative, operating and accounting controls.  
  
Meetings of the Committee are held a minimum of twice per annum, represented by 
one meeting for each of the full-year and half-year financial accounts review, 
approval and recommendation to the Board.  Further meetings may be held for 
discussion on policies and procedures and risk management matters.  The auditors 
of the company, Moore Stephens, are also invited to make recommendations to the 
Committee on policies and procedures for discussion. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting (Continued) 
 
Following a recommendation by the Committee to the Board of Directors to approve 
the annual and half year financial accounts, the Chairman/CEO and Chief Financial 
Officer state in writing to the Board that the Company‘s Financial Reports present a 
true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company‘s financial condition and 
operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and 
that this statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board. 
 
Composition 
India Equities‘ Audit & Risk Committee follows each of the CGC principles listed 
below:  
 

 Consists only of non-executive Directors with a majority of the Committee 
members being independent Directors; 

 An independent Chairperson, who is not Chairperson of the Board and is a 
qualified accountant or has significant experience in the financial industry; 

 Has at least three members 
 
Members of the Committee are: 

James Chirnside (Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director) 

Gabriel Radzyminski (Independent Non-executive Director) 

Alex Feher (Independent Non-executive Director) 
 
There were two meetings held during the reporting period. 
 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Continuous Disclosure policy 
 
India Equities‘ Continuous Disclosure Policy is designed to promote transparency 
and investor confidence and ensure that all interested parties have an equal 
opportunity to obtain information which is issued by India Equities.  The Company is 
committed to complying with the continuous disclosure obligations contained in the 
listing rules of the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) and under the Corporations 
Act, and ensuring that all shareholders and the market have an equal opportunity to 
obtain and review full and timely information about India Equities‘ securities. 
 
 
The ASX defines continuous disclosure in its Listing Rules as ―the timely advising of 
information to keep the market informed of events and developments as they occur‖.  
The Listing Rules and the Corporations Act require that a listed entity disclose to the 
market matters which a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on 
the price or value of the entity‘s securities.  A reasonable person is taken to expect 
information to have a material effect on the price or value of securities if it would, or 
would be likely to, influence persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding 
whether or not to subscribe for, buy or sell the securities. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure (Continued) 
 
The Chairman controls all India Equities‘ communications with assistance from the 
Company Secretary in carrying out this responsibility.  The Chairman is the only 
officer allowed to authorise the release of material information to the market.  The 
Company Secretary is responsible for administering this policy and is responsible for 
dealing with the ASX in relation to all listing rule issues.  The procedures which have 
been developed to comply with these rules include immediate reporting of any matter 
which could potentially have a material effect, via established reporting lines to the 
Chairman/CEO and/or the Company Secretary.   
 
Disclosure of such price-sensitive information to the ASX must not be delayed and is 
disclosed, in the first instance, to the ASX and only after receiving confirmation that a 
release of this disclosure has been made to the market will it then be placed on the 
Company‘s website, www.indiaequitiesfund.com.au.  Material information must not 
be selectively disclosed (i.e. to analysts, the media or shareholders) prior to being 
announced to the ASX, and all media releases must be referred to the CEO for 
approval prior to any release. 
 
Trading Policy 
 
India Equities‘ Share Trading Policy ensures that unpublished price sensitive 
information about the Company is not used in an unlawful manner.  The main 
provisions of this policy are governed by: 
 

 the specific requirements of the Corporations Act; 
 a prohibition of short term trading in the Company‘s shares; 
 when Directors and employees may trade in the Company‘s shares; and 
 prior notification by Directors, officers and employees of their intention to deal 

in the Company‘s shares. 
 

A summary of the Policy is as follows: 
Trading of securities by Directors, officers and employees is only allowed when he or 
she is not in possession of price sensitive information that is not generally available 
to the market.  
 
As it is assumed that Directors and senior management are likely to be in possession 
of unpublished price sensitive information concerning the Company by virtue of their 
position within the Company, those persons and their associates may not deal in the 
Company‘s securities during the following periods:  
 

 5 days preceding the announcement of half-yearly financial results; 
 5 days preceding the announcement of annual financial results;  
 5 days preceding the holding of a shareholders meeting; 
 The period from the first calendar day of each month up to and including the 

day of NTA announcement; and 
 2 days immediately after the date of an ASX announcement. 

 
In addition, Directors, officers and employees can only deal in India Equities‘ shares 
after having first obtained permission from the Chairman/CEO and must notify the 
Company Secretary when a trade has occurred. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders 

 
Shareholder Communications 
 
India Equities‘ communication strategy is designed to promote effective 
communication with shareholders. 
 
The Company is committed to: 

 ensuring that shareholders and the financial markets are provided with full 
and timely information about the Company‘s activities in a balanced and 
understandable way; 

 complying with continuous disclosure obligations contained in the applicable 
ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act in Australia; and 

 communicating effectively with its shareholders and making it easier for 
shareholders to communicate with the Company. 

 
To promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective 
participation at general meetings, information is communicated to shareholders:  

 through the release of information to the market via the ASX;  
 through the distribution of the Annual Report and Notices of Annual General 

Meeting; 
 through shareholder meetings; 
 through letters and other forms of communications directly to shareholders;  
 by posting relevant information on the Company‘s website; and 
 by providing shareholders with a choice of information delivery i.e. paper or 

electronic means 
 
The Company‘s website, www.indiaequitiesfund.com.au, has a dedicated 
Shareholder Information section and endeavours to publish on the website all 
important company information and relevant announcements made to the market. 
 
The external auditors are requested to attend the Annual General Meeting and are 
available to answer shareholders‘ questions about the conduct of the audit and 
preparation of the Auditor‘s Report. 
 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 
 
Risk Management System Statement 
 
The Board of the Company takes a proactive approach to the Company‘s risk 
management and internal compliance and control system.  This function is dealt with 
by the Audit & Risk Committee. 
 
The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring that risks and mitigation of 
these risks are identified on a timely basis and that the Company‘s objectives and 
activities are aligned with the risks and opportunities identified by the Committee and 
the Board of Directors. 
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk (Continued) 
 
The Company has developed a policy on risk oversight and management and 
undertaken a risk assessment of the company‘s operations, processes and 
procedures. The risk assessment was aimed at identifying the following: 

 a culture of risk control and the minimisation of risk throughout the Company, 
which is being done through natural or instinctive process by employees of 
the Company; 

 a culture of risk control that can easily identify risks as they arise and amend 
practices; 

 the installation of practices and procedures in all areas of the business that 
are designed to minimise an event or incident that could have a financial or 
other effect on the business and its day to day management;  

 adoption of practices and procedures to minimise many of the standard 
commercial risks, i.e., taking out the appropriate insurance polices, or 
ensuring compliance reporting is up to date; and 

 adoption of regular risk management controls reporting to the Board, via the 
Audit & Risk Committee. 
 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
Board Remuneration and Nomination Policies 
 
The Company has a Nomination & Remuneration Committee comprising the full 
Board and is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements 
for the Directors and Chairman and for approving parameters within which the review 
of the compensation arrangements for the senior executive team can be conducted 
by the Chairman.   
 

 Consists of a majority of independent Directors;  

 Has an independent Chairperson; and 

 Has at least three members. 
 
Members of the Committee are: 

Alex Feher (Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director) 

Gabriel Radzyminski (Independent Non-executive Director) 

James Chirnside (Independent Non-executive Director) 
 
The details of the remuneration paid to Directors and Officers is included in the 
Remuneration Report of this Annual Report. 
 
The Company does not have any schemes for retirement benefits for Directors other 
than standard superannuation arrangements. 
 
Given the changes to the Company‘s executive management team and Board which 
took place during the financial year, the Committee did not meet during the reporting 
period, but has now met once as at the date of this report.  
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2.   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly (Continued) 
 
The Committee monitors and reviews: 

 the remuneration arrangements for the Chairman and sets parameters within 
which the Chairman will review arrangements for other directors and senior 
executives (when applicable); 

 the remuneration policies, personnel practices and strategies of the Company 
generally; 

 any employee incentive schemes; 
 the remuneration arrangements for non-executive Directors; 
 the size and composition of the Board, and criteria for Board membership; 

and  
 the membership of the Board and candidates for consideration by the Board. 

 
The Board is responsible for Performance Evaluation of the members of the Board 
and key executives against both measurable and qualitative indicators.   
 
Under the Policy, the Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the 
performance of individual Directors and meets privately with each Director to discuss 
this assessment.  Given the change of the Board on 5 November 2010, a review was 
not undertaken during the reporting period to which this Annual Report relates. 
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Moore Stephens ABN 39 533 589 331. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. An independent member of Moore Stephens International Limited – 
members in principal cities throughout the world. The Melbourne Moore Stephens firm is not a partner or agent of any other Moore Stephens firm. And is a separate partnership in Victoria. 
 

3. AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 to the directors of India Equities Fund Limited and 

Controlled Entities 

 
 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2011 
there have been: 
 

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review, and 
 

(ii) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
review. 

 
 
 
 
MOORE STEPHENS 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
Grant Sincock 
Partner 
 
Melbourne, 25 August 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Level 10, 530 Collins Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 
 

T  +61 (0)3 8635 1800 
F  +61 (0)3 8102 3400 
 

www.moorestephens.com.au 
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INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

 
4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

  Consolidated 

  
June 
2011 

June 
2010 

 Note $ $ 

Revenue 3 790,617 899,117 

Gain on Disposal of Financial Assets 3 12,787,818 4,643,161 

Other Income 3 1,641 784 

Fund Administration Expenses  100,338 (1,108,573) 

Remuneration Costs 4 (1,162,153) (1,052,918) 

Listed Company Expenses 4 (710,578) (923,706) 

Marketing and Development Expenses  (70,896) (518,822) 

Amortisation 15 - (348,225) 

Occupancy Costs  (54,554) (105,656) 

Depreciation 14 (18,332) (20,249) 

Foreign Exchange Loss 4 (59,172) (10,842) 

Finance Costs  (1,901) (1,600) 

Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets  (17,844) - 

Impairment Expense 4 (27,400) (3,255,134) 

Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax  11,557,584 (1,802,663) 

Income Tax(Expense) 5 (4,499,958) (1,554,662) 

Profit/(Loss) for the year  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Gain on Revaluation of Available-for-sale Financial 
Assets 

   

Reclassification Adjustment  (12,787,818) 6,833,337 

Fair Value Adjustment  (3,354,846) - 

Transfer of Impairment of Assets  - 3,255,134 

Deferred Tax Impact  3,698,944 (1,882,686) 

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year, Net of Tax  (12,443,720) 8,205,785 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  (5,386,094) 4,848,460 

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to:    

Members of the Parent Entity  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

Non-Controlling Interest  - - 

  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
  Consolidated 

  
June 
2011 

June 
2010 

 Note $ $ 

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:    

Members of the Parent Entity  (5,386,094) 4,848,460 

Non-Controlling Interest  - - 

  (5,386,094) 4,848,460 

   

    

Earnings Per Share    

From Continuing Operations    

- Basic (Loss) per share (cents per share) 9 5.82 (3.56) 

- Diluted (Loss) per share (cents per share) 9 5.82 (3.49) 

From Comprehensive Income    

- Basic Earnings per share (cents per share) 9 (4.44) 5.15 

- Diluted Earnings per share (cents per share) 9 (4.44) 5.04 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2011 

 

  Consolidated 

 
 

June 

2011 

June 

2010 

 Not
e 

$ $ 

Assets    

Current Assets    

Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 7,125,417 26,032,458 

Trade and Other Receivables 11 186,789 519,337 

Financial Assets 12 - 55,253,077 

Other Current Assets 13 29,031 112,389 

Deferred Tax Assets 17 - 3,698,944 

Total Current Assets  7,341,237 85,616,205 

Non-Current Assets    

Financial Assets 12 - - 

Property, Plant & Equipment 14 51,342 87,002 

Intangible Assets 15 - - 

Deferred Tax Assets 17 311,552 - 

Total Non-Current Assets  362,894 87,002 

Total Assets  7,704,131 85,703,207 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and Other Payables 18 51,039 1,302,852 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 17 - 3,698,944 

Total Current Liabilities  51,039 5,001,796 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Deferred Tax Liabilities 17 - - 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  - - 

Total Liabilities  51,039 5,001,796 

Net Assets  7,653,092 80,701,411 

Equity    

Issued Capital 19 14,959,941 82,622,166 

Reserves 20 494,083 12,617,200 

Retained Earnings  (7,816,018) (14,553,041) 

Parent Interest  7,638,006 80,686,325 

Non-Controlling Interest  15,086 15,086 

Total Equity  7,653,092 80,701,411 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

   Consolidated 

 

Note  

June 

2011 

$ 

June 

2010 

$ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Dividends Received   268,569 625,347 

Payments to Suppliers and Employees   (2,551,056) (3,201,252) 

Interest Received   789,976 49,039 

Receipts from Customers   1,745 57,832 

Foreign Tax Paid   (801,014) - 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 23  (2,291,780) (2,469,034) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     

Proceeds from Sale of Investments   51,870,831 39,606,338 

Purchase of Investments   - (28,541,941
) Payment for Investment in Subsidiaries   - (223,125) 

Proceeds from Sale of Fixed Assets   1,725 - 

Purchases of Plant & Equipment    (2,227) (63,814) 

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities   51,870,329 10,777,458 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     

Share Buy-back Payments   - (2,553,480) 

Costs Relating to Capital Raising   (661,732) (887,477) 

Capital Return Payments   (72,656,201) - 

Proceeds from the Exercise of Options   4,861,558 - 

Proceeds from the Issue of Shares   - 15,014,138 

Net Cash (Used in)/Provided by Financing Activities   (68,456,375) 11,573,181 

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents Held   (18,877,826) 19,881,605 

Cash & Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Financial Year   26,032,458 6,159,296 

Effect of exchange rates on cash holdings in foreign 
currencies 

 
 (29,215) (8,443) 

Cash & Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 10  7,125,417 26,032,458 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

. 

Consolidated 

Issued 
Share 

Capital - 
Ordinary 

Retained 
Earnings 

Realised 
Capital 
Profits 

Reserve 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Non-
Control

-ling 
Interest Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2010 82,622,166 (14,553,041) 173,480 12,443,720 15,086 80,701,411 

Profit for the Year - 7,057,626 - - - 7,057,626 

Other Comprehensive Income for the 
Year       

Net unrealised gains for stocks held at 
30 June 2011 - - - (12,443,720) - (12,443,720) 

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Year - 7,057,626 - (12,443,720) - (5,386,094) 

Shares Issued during the Year 4,861,558 - - - - 4,861,558 

Capital Return during the period (72,656,201) - - - - (72,656,201) 

Transaction Costs (179,134) - - - - (179,134) 

Transfer from Retained Earnings to 
Realised Capital Reserve - (320,603) 320,603 - - - 

Deferred Tax Relating to Capital 
Raising Costs 311,552 - - - - 311,552 

Subtotal 14,959,941 (7,816,018) 494,083 - 15,086 7,653,092 

Dividends Paid or Provided for - - - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011 14,959,941 (7,816,018) 494,083 - 15,086 7,653,092 

       

Balance 1 July 2009 69,699,521 (11,195,716) 173,480 4,237,935 15,086 62,930,306 

Profit for the Year - (3,357,325) - - - (3,357,325) 

Other Comprehensive Income for the 
Year 

      

Net unrealised gains for stocks held at 
30 June 2010 

- - - 4,950,651 - 4,950,651 

Impairment Transferred to Statement 
of Comprehensive Income 

- - - 3,255,134 - 3,255,134 

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Year 

- (3,357,325) - 8,205,785 - 4,848,460 

Shares Issued during the Year 15,014,136 - - - - 15,014,136 

Shares Bought back during the Year - - - - - - 

Transaction Costs (1,412,738) - - - - (1,412,738) 

Deferred Tax Relating to Capital 
Raising Costs 

(678,753) - - - - (678,753) 

Subtotal 82,622,166 (14,553,041) 173,480 12,443,720 15,086 80,701,411 

Dividends Paid or Provided for - - - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2010 82,622,166 (14,553,041) 173,480 12,443,720 15,086 80,701,411 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements 
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of India Equities Fund Limited 
and controlled entities (‗Consolidated Group‘ or ‗Group‘ or ‗Company). India Equities Fund Limited is a listed 
public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
 
The separate financial statements of the parent entity, India Equities Fund Limited, have not been presented 
within this financial report as permitted by amendments made to the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the Australia Accounting Standards Board 
has concluded would result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about 
transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the 
financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
IASB. 
 
The Board continues to consider opportunities for the Company that might involve a significant change to its 
business operations. 
 
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented below and have 
been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Reporting Basis and Conventions 
 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified by the 
revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value 
basis of accounting has been applied. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
In preparing this financial report, the significant judgements made by management in applying the accounting 
policies and the key sources of estimates or uncertainty were the same as those that applied historically. 

 
Accounting Policies 
 

(a) Principles of Consolidation 
A controlled entity is any entity over which India Equities Fund Limited has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing the power to 
govern, the existence and effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are considered. 
 
A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 16 to the financial statements. 
 
As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the 
consolidated financial statements as well as their results for the year then ended.  Where controlled entities 
have entered/(or left) the consolidated group during the year, their operating results have been 
included/(reduced) from the date control was obtained/(omitted). 
 
All inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated group, including any 
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity. Non-
controlling interests, being that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries attributable to  
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(b) Business Combinations  
 
equity interests held by persons outside the Group, are shown separately within the Equity section of the 
consolidated Statement of Financial Position and in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Business combinations occur where control over another business is obtained and results in the 
consolidation of its assets and liabilities. All business combinations, including those involving entities under 
common control, are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 

 
The acquisition method requires the acquirer of the business to be identified. The business combination 
will be accounted for as at acquisition date, which is the date that control over the acquire is obtained by 
the parent entity. At that date, the parent entity shall recognise in the consolidated accounts, and subject to 
certain limited exceptions, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In 
addition contingent liabilities of the acquire will be recognised where a present obligation has been incurred 
and its fair value can be measured reliably. 
 
Cost is determined as the aggregate of fair values of assets given, equity issued and liabilities assumed in 
exchange for control together with costs directly attributable to the business combination. Any deferred 
consideration payable is discounted to present value using the entities incremental borrowing rate. 

 
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised initially at the excess of cost of the business combination over 
the acquirer‘s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
recognised.  If the fair value of the acquirer‘s interest is greater than cost, the surplus is immediately 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(c) Trade and Other Payables 
Trade and Other Payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods 
and services received by the Group during the reporting period which remain unpaid. The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amount being normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the 
liability. 

 
(d) Income Tax 
The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (revenue) and 
deferred tax expense (revenue). 
 
Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated 
using applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date.  Current tax 
liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the 
relevant taxation authority. 
 
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the year as well as unused tax losses. 
 
Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to 
equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets 
also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.   
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(d) Income Tax (Continued) 

 
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a 
business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
reporting date.  Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred 
tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability 
will occur.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either 
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
(e) Property, Plant and Equipment  
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess 
of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset‘s employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the consolidated group includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset‘s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(e) Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset‘s useful life to the consolidated group 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Plant and Equipment 10–25% 
 
The assets‘ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
An asset‘s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset‘s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains and losses are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, 
amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

 

(f) Financial Instruments 
Recognition and Initial Measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits 
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the 
instrument is classified ‗at fair value through profit or loss‘, in which case transaction costs are expensed to 
profit or loss immediately. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, or cost.  Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties.  Where available, quoted prices in an active 
market are used to determine fair value.  In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 

 
Amortised cost is calculated as:  

(a) the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition; 
(b) less principal repayments; 
(c) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially 

recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and 
(d) less any reduction for impairment 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(f) Financial Instruments (Continued) 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement (Continued) 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this 
cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an 
adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss. 
 
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being 
subject to the requirements of accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments.   
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets are classified at ‗fair value through profit or loss‘ when they are either held for trading for 
the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group 
of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss. 
   
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be 
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by 
management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed 
maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. 
 
Derivative instruments 
Derivative Instruments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless they are designated as hedges. The Group did 
not hold any hedging derivative instruments nor undertake any hedging transactions during the financial 
year or comparative year. 
 
Fair value 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arms length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
 
Impairment 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged 
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(f) Financial Instruments (Continued) 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset 
is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in 
the risks and benefits associated with the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 
obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the 
financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, 
including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(g) Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset‘s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value 
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with infinite lives. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
(h) Investment in Subsidiaries 
Investment in subsidiary companies in the parent‘s financial statements is stated at cost, net of any 
impairment losses. 
 
(i) Intangibles 
Goodwill 
Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the 
sum of: 
(j) the consideration transferred; 
(ii) any non-controlling interest; and 
(iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest, 
Over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. 
 
Goodwill of acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of 
associates is included in investments in associates. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group‘s cash generating units or group of 
cash generating units, which represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored but where such level 
is not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill related to the entity sold.  
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(i) Intangibles (Continued) 
Management Agreement 
The Directors have attributed a value to the Management Agreement between the company and Olympus 
Funds Management Pty Ltd based on the commitment to pay management fees to Olympus for the 
remaining seven year life of the contract. The value attributed to this agreement will be amortised until the 
contract expires in 2017. The Management Agreement will be tested annually for impairment and carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. The Management Agreement was been fully impaired in 30 
June 2011. 
 
(j) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group‘s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars which is the parent entity's functional and presentation currency. Investment funds are 
predominately sourced from Australia in Australian dollars, in conjunction with the measurement of total 
portfolio returns. 
 
All the financial statements are compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards, including the 
translation methods. 
 
Transaction and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year end exchange rate. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date 
when fair values were determined. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as "Available-for-sale" 
are included in the asset revaluation reserve. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, except where deferred in other comprehensive income as a qualifying cash flow 
or net investment hedge. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in other comprehensive 
income, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the (Loss)/Profit for the year. 
 
(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
(l) Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the operating profit after tax by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing the operating profit after tax adjusted for the effect of 
earnings on potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (both issued 
and potentially dilutive) outstanding during the financial year. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 
(m) Revenue and Other Income 
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 
the financial assets. 
 
The realised gain or loss on disposal of investments is recognised at the date of transaction. All unrealised 
gains or losses which represent movements in the market value of the portfolio held-for-trading are 
recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
(n) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 
 
Key Estimates – Impairment 
The financial assets available-for-sale and held-for-trading of India Equities Fund Limited are valued at fair 
value. The Directors assess impairment of all other assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions 
specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of these assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the 
recoverable amount of the assets is determined. 
 
In accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes, deferred assets have been recognised for unrealised losses 
in the investment portfolio at current tax rates to the point that management believes that they will be 
utilised. 
 
As the Directors disposed of the portfolio in July 2010, this tax asset has been realised. 
 
Key Judgements - Impairment 
There are no key assumptions or sources of estimation uncertainty that have a risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(o) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  
 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an 
item of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. 
 
GST is accounted for on a cash basis for activity statement purposes. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component 
of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(p) Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial period. India Equities Fund Limited became a consolidated group 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2009. 
 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods  
The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods and which the Group has decided not to early adopt. A 
discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Group is as follows: 
 

- AASB 9: Financial Instruments [December 2010] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 
This Standard is applicable retrospectively and includes revised requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition requirements 
for financial instruments. The Group has not yet determined the potential impact of adopting this 
Standard on the financial statements. 
 
The key changes made to the accounting requirements for financial instruments by this Standard 
include: 
 

- simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and 
those carried at fair value; 
 

- simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 
 

- removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 
 

- removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives within financial 
assets carried at amortised cost; 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

- permitting an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be 
recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the 
instrument; 

- requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity‘s business 
model as they are initially classified based on: (a) the objective of the entity‘s business 
model for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash 
flows; and 

- requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the 
portion of the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity‘s own credit risk in the 
other comprehensive income, except when that would create an accounting mismatch. If 
such a mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required present all changes in 
fair value (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability) in profit or loss. 

 
 

- AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or  
after 1 January 2011). 

 
This Standard removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all 
transactions with the government and other government-related entities.  The Standard also 
clarifies the definition of a ‗related party‘ to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the 
Standard.  
 
Adoption of this revised version of AASB 124 is not expected to impact the Group. 

 
- AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2:  

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 
131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 
& 1052] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2013). 
 
 
AASB 1053 establishes a revised differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
financial reporting requirements for those entities preparing general purpose financial statements: 
 

- Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and 
 

- Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (RDR). 
 

Tier 2 of the framework comprises the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements of 
Tier 1, but contains significantly fewer disclosure requirements. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 
The following entities are required to apply Tier 1 reporting requirements (i.e. full Australian 
Accounting Standards): 
 

- for-profit private sector entities that have public accountability; and 
 

- the Australian Government and State, Territory and Local Governments. 
 

AASB 2010-2 makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to give 
effect to the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities.  It achieves this by specifying the 
disclosure paragraphs that a Tier 2 entity need not comply with as well as adding specific RDR 
disclosures. 
 
The Group is a for-profit private sector entity that has public accountability and therefore does not 
qualify for the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities. Accordingly, this Standard is not 
expected to impact the Group. 

 
- AASB 2009–12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 

119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

 
This Standard makes a number of amendments that are editorial in nature to a range of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the 
text of IFRSs by the IASB. The Standard also amends AASB 8: Operating Segments to require 
entities to exercise judgment in assessing whether a government and entities known to be under 
the control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes of certain 
operating segment disclosures. 
  
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 
- AASB 2009–14: Amendments to Australian Interpretation — Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 

Requirement [AASB Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011). 

 
This Standard amends Interpretation 14: AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction to address unintended consequences that 
can arise from the previous accounting requirements when an entity prepays future contributions 
into a defined benefit plan. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

- AASB 2010-4:  Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project [AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101 & AASB 134 and Interpretation 13] (applicable 
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 
 
This Standard makes numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to Standards arising from the 
IASB‘s annual improvements project. Key changes include: 
 

- clarifying the application of AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors prior to an entity‘s first Australian Accounting Standard financial 
statements; 
 

- AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures is amended to add an explicit statement that 
qualitative disclosures should be made in the context of the quantitative disclosures to 
better enable users to evaluate an entity‘s exposure to risks arising from financial 
instruments; 

 
- AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to clarify that disaggregation 

of changes in each component of equity arising from transactions recognised in other 
comprehensive income is required to be presented, but is permitted to be presented in the 
statement of changes in equity or in the notes; 

 
- AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting is amended by adding a number of examples to the 

list of events or transactions that require disclosure under AASB 134; and 
 

- sundry editorial amendments to various Standards and interpretations. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
 

- AASB 2010-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 
118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 
& 1042] (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). 
 
This Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs 
by the IASB. However, these editorial amendments have no major impact on the requirements of 
the respective amended pronouncements.  
 
Accordingly, this Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

- AASB 2010-6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of 
Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2011). 

 

This Standard amends the current disclosure requirements and introduces a number of new 
disclosure requirements in relation to transfers of financial assets, particularly in relation to the 
nature of the financial assets involved and the risks associated with them. This Standard also 
makes amendments to AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to 
facilitate the adoption of the amendments to AASB 7 by first-time adopters of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 
  
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013). 

 

This Standard makes amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a consequence of the issuance of AASB 9: Financial Instruments in December 
2010. Accordingly, these amendments will only apply when the entity adopts AASB 9. 
 
The Group has not yet determined the potential impact of adopting AASB 9 on the financial 
statements. 

 

- AASB 2010-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets [AASB 112] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 

 

The amendments contained in this Standard amend AASB 112: Income Taxes to introduce a more 
practical approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment 
property is measured using the fair value model under AASB 140: Investment Property. 
  
Under the current AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
depends on whether an entity expects to recover an asset by using it or by selling it. The 
amendments introduce a presumption that an investment property is recovered entirely through 
sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
property over time, rather than through sale. 
 
The amendments brought in by this Standard also incorporate Interpretation 121: Income Taxes – 
Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into AASB 112. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

- AASB 2010-9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and 
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 1] (applies to periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2011). 

 

The amendments to AASB 1 brought in by this Standard provide relief for first-time adopters of 
Australian Accounting Standards from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before their 
date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Furthermore, the amendments brought in by this Standard also provide guidance for entities 
emerging from severe hyperinflation either to resume presenting Australian-Accounting-Standards 
financial statements or to present Australian-Accounting-Standards financial statements for the first 
time. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 2010-10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Fixed 
Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 2009-11 & AASB 2010-7] (applies to periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013). 

 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). 
  
The amendments brought in by this Standard ultimately affect AASB 1 and provide relief for first-
time adopters from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before their transition date. 
  
[The amendments to AASB 2009-11 will only affect early adopters of AASB 2009-11 (and AASB 9: 
Financial Instruments that was issued in December 2009) as it has been superseded by AASB 
2010-7]. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 1054: Australian Additional Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2011). 

 

This Standard arises from the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence Project undertaken by the AASB 
and the New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards Board (FRSB). It sets out the Australian-
specific disclosures for entities that have adopted Australian Accounting Standards. It contains 
disclosure requirements that are additional to IFRSs requirements in relation to: 
 

- compliance with Australian Accounting Standards; 
  

- the statutory basis or reporting framework for the financial statements;  
 

- whether the financial statements are general purpose or special purpose;  
 

- audit fees; 
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

- imputation (franking) credits; and  
 

- the reconciliation of net operating cash flow to profit or loss. 
 
Some of these disclosure requirements were previously located in other Australian Accounting 
Standards.  
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 2011-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2011). 

 

This Standard makes amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations for the purpose of closer alignment to IFRSs and harmonisation between Australian 
and New Zealand Standards. 
 
For instance, AASB 2011-1 introduces the 'true and fair override' into AASB 101 (as currently 
available under paragraphs 19-22 of IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements). However, the 
application of ‗true and fair override‘ in the Australian context is limited by an additional 'Aus' 
paragraph (Aus19.1 of the amended AASB 101), which specifically prohibits entities required to 
prepare financial reports under Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, private and public sector 
not-for-profit reporting entities (including governments) and entities applying Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements from applying the requirements in paragraph 19 of the revised AASB 101. 
  
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 2011-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2013). 

 

This Standard amends the reduced disclosure requirements impacted by the amendments in 
AASB 1054 and AASB 2011-1. 
 
The Group does not qualify for the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities.  
 
Accordingly, this Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 

- AASB 2011-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Orderly Adoption of Changes to 
the ABS GFS Manual and Related Amendments (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2012). 
 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 1049: Whole of Government and General 
Government Sector Financial Reporting, including clarifying the definition of the Australian Bureau 
of Statistics‘ Government Finance Statistics (GFS) Manual, facilitating the orderly adoption of 
changes to the GFS Manual and related disclosures. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 



 

 48 

INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
NOTE 2: RETURN OF CAPITAL 

 
An EGM was held on 7 July 2010 to approve the disposal of the Company‘s main undertaking and to 
implement an equal capital reduction based on 90% of the after tax NTA per share as at 31 July 2010. The 
Company's shareholders voted overwhelmingly in favour of the resolution. 
 
By 31 July 2010, the Company had: 
 

 Disposed of the whole investment portfolio of Indian listed securities; 

 Transferred the proceeds back to Australia; and  

 Allotted shares relating to options exercised prior to the Record Date for the 90% return of capital.  
 
On 20 August 2010, the Company applied $72,656,201 to the return of capital at a rate of $0.604117 per 
share, reducing Net Tangible Assets to $8,072,934, available to cover net operating costs beyond 31 July.   
 
These transactions have significantly reduced the assets of the Company and their impact can be summarised 
as follows: 
 

  
$ No. of Shares NTA per Share 

Net Assets at 30 June 2010 80,701,411 108,114,508 $0.75 

    

POST 30 JUNE 2010 TRANSACTIONS    

Post 30 June (Loss) on Portfolio (4,408,677)   

Proceeds from Exercise of Options1 4,861,558   

Termination Payments (697,718)   

Other Movements 272,561   

Net Tangible Assets (per reported July 2010 NTA) 80,729,135 120,268,402 $0.671241 

    

20 August 2010 Return of Capital  (72,656,201) 120,268,402 $0.604117 

31 July 2010 NTA adjusted for Capital Return 8,072,934   

Shares issued post Return of Capital2   1,544,664  

Total shares on issue at 30 June 2011  121,813,066  

 
1. During July 2010 12,153,894 Options were exercised at $0.40. A further 1,313,926 Options were exercised at $0.00 by 30 

August 2010. 
2. A further 1,544,664 Options were exercised at $0.00 by 15 September 2010.  

 

 

The Net Assets of the Company after the return of capital on 20 August have been held substantially in 
cash and deposits in Australia. For further details refer to Note 19: Issued Capital. 
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NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
 

  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

    
Revenue    

- Dividends Received   - 839,213 

- Interest Received  790,617 59,904 

Total Revenue  790,617 899,117 

    

Gain on Disposal of Financial Assets  12,787,818 4,643,161 

    

Other Income    

- Reimbursement Income  1,641 784 

Total Other Income  1,641 784 

Total Revenue and Other Income  13,580,076 5,543,062 

 
NOTE 4: EXPENSES 
 

Significant Expense Items    

Investment Management Services1    (164,280) 920,474 

Banking Services  50,114 100,541 

Unrealised Foreign Exchange Loss  59,172 8,443 

Financial Assets Impairment  27,400 - 

Intangible Assets Impairment  - 2,504,772 

AASB 139 Impairment *  - 750,361 
 

1
 At 30 June 2010 an advisory fee accrual of $473,139 based on the performance of the portfolio for the year ended 30 June 2010 

was made in line with the conditions of the PAMS agreement. Subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2010 and the expiry of the 
performance fee calculation date, 6 July 2010, a write-back of the over accrual of $167,834 was made due to the decline in the 
investment portfolio. Additional advisory fees were payable to PAMS for the month of July 2010 amounting to $3,554. 
 
2
 Accounting Standard AASB 139 ―Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement‖ requires the company to apportion its 

adjustment arising on valuing investments at market price between the Asset Revaluation Reserve and Profit and Loss account 
where there has been an impairment of an investment. During the year ended 30 June 2011, an impairment charge of $Nil (2010: 
$750,361) was booked in the Income Statement. 
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NOTE 4: EXPENSES (Continued) 
 

 Consolidated 

 June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

   

Remuneration Costs    

Director Fees 206,620 671,096 

Director Termination Costs3 705,702 - 

Employee Salary & Wages 49,510 241,136 

Employee Termination Costs3 117,084 - 

Superannuation 38,200 65,276 

Payroll Tax3 27,407 21,319 

Other 17,630 54,091 

 1,162,153 1,052,918 

   

Listed Company Costs   

Accounting & Secretarial Costs 214,114 248,340 

Audit Fees 39,598 109,460 

Director & Officer Insurance 94,874 89,590 

Legal and Professional Fees   

- Non Recurring Costs3 207,159 326,111 

- Recurring Costs 5,936 1,705 

ASIC & ASX Charges 37,888 47,101 

Share Registry Costs 110,949 96,152 

Other 60 5,247 

 710,578 923,706 

 
3
 During the period significant costs in relation to director and employee termination and legal matters were incurred as part of the 

winding down of operations, these expenses are not expected to be incurred in future periods. 

 
NOTE 5: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

(a) The components of tax expense comprise:    

- Current Tax        2,968,733 (606,169) 

- Deferred Tax  184,973 192,852 

- Indian Tax Paid  801,014 - 

- Under Provision for Tax – Prior Year  (424,624) - 

- De-recognition of Deferred Tax Assets  969,862 1,967,979 

 
 

 4,499,958 1,554,662 
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NOTE 5: INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 
 

 Consolidated 

 June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

(b) The prima facie tax on (loss) from ordinary activities before income tax as follows:          

- Prima face tax payable on (loss) from ordinary activities before income tax at 
30% (2010: 30%) 3,467,275 (540,799) 

Add: Tax Effect of:   

- Impairment Loss from Reserves - 225,108 

- Impairment Loss on Intangibles - 751,432 

- Impairment Loss from Investments 8,220 - 

- Deferred Tax Expense from Reserves 3,698,944 - 

- Tax Losses not bought to account - 429,448 

Less: Tax Effect of:   

- Tax Losses Utilised (3,699,802) (1,392,084) 

- Deduction under Sec 40-880 (320,931) 113,578 

Indian Tax Paid 801,014 - 

Under Provision for Tax – Prior Year (424,624) - 

De-recognition of Deferred Tax Assets 969,862 1,967,979 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 4,499,958 1,554,662 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been adjusted down to represent managements estimates of carried 
forward losses that will were utilised on the realisation of the investment portfolio. Refer to Note 2 for further 
details. 

 
Carried Forward at 30 June 2011 - Capital Losses 2011: $Nil (2010: $12.3m), Revenue Losses 2011: 
$10.0m (2010: $7.9m). The subsequent disposal of the Company‘s portfolio utilised all of the Capital Losses 
while Revenue Losses remain to be carried forward. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to capital raising costs have been recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position totalling $311,552. 

 
NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION 
 

(a) Names and Positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the 

financial year are: 

Key Management Person Position 

Mr. James Chirnside – Appointed 5 November 2010 Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Alex Feher – Appointed 5 November 2010 Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski – Appointed 5 November 2010 Non-Executive Director & Chairman 

Mr. Don Christie** – Resigned 5 November 2010 Non-Executive Director & Chairman 

Mr. David Carruthers – Resigned 5 November 2010  Executive Director  

Mr. Clifford Clayton – Resigned 5 November 2010 Non-Executive Director 

Mr. John Pereira – Resigned 7 July 2010 Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer  
**Appointed as Executive Chairman on 7 July 2010. 
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NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (Continued) 
 

 Consolidated 

 June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 
(b) Aggregate compensation made to Key Management 

Personnel 
   

Short-term Employee Benefits  206,620 671,096 

Post-Employment Benefits  22,155 38,100 

Other Long-term Benefits  - - 

Termination Benefits  705,702 - 

Share-based Payment  - - 

  934,477 709,196 

 
(c) Shareholdings 

 
Number of Shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Key Management Personnel, or by entities to 
which they were related, were: 

 

2011 

Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other * 

Balance 30 June 
2011 

Mr. James Chirnside* - - - - - 

Mr. Alex Feher* - - - - - 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski* - - - - - 

Mr. Don Christie^^ 166,668 - - (166,668) - 

Mr. John Pereira^ 175,047 - - (175,047) - 

Mr. David Carruthers^^ 166,668 - - (166,668) - 

Mr. Clifford Clayton^^ 41,668 - - (41,668) - 

 550,051 - - (550,051) - 

^Resigned 7 July 2010. 
^^Resigned 5 November 2010.  
*Net Change Other refers to options or shares purchased or sold during the financial year. 
*Appointed 5 November 2010. 

 

2010 

Balance 1 
July 2009 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other * 

Balance 30 June 
2010 

Mr. Don Christie^^ 100,000 - 33,334 33,334 166,668 

Mr. John Pereira^ 504,034 - - (328,987) 175,047 

Mr. David Carruthers^^ 125,000 - - 41,668 166,668 

Mr. Clifford Clayton^^   25,000 - 8,334 8,334 41,668 

 754,034 - 41,668 (245,651) 550,051 

^Resigned 7 July 2010.  
*Net Change Other refers to options or shares purchased or sold during the financial year. 
^^Resigned 5 November 2010.  
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NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (Continued) 
 

(d) Options & Rights Holdings 

Number of Options Held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Key Management Personnel, or by entities to 
which they were related, were: 
 

2011 

Balance 
1 July 
2010 

Granted 
as 

Compen
-sation 

Net 
Change 
Other** 

Balance 
30 June 

2011 

Total 
Vested 
30 June 

2011 

Total 
Vested & 
Exercis-
able 30 
June 
2011 

Total 
Vested & 

Unexercis-
able 30 June 

2011 

Key Management 
Personnel 

       

Mr. James Chirnside - - - - - - - 

Mr. Alexander Feher - - - - - - - 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski - - - - - - - 

Mr. Don Christie - - - - - - - 

Mr. John Pereira 622,413 - (622,413) - - - - 

Mr. David Carruthers 41,668 - (41,668) - - - - 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - - - - - - 

 664,081 - (664,081) - - - - 

**Net Change Other refers to options or shares purchased or sold during the financial year on market. The options have an exercise date of 31 August 
2010 and an exercise price of $0.40. All Current Directors exercised their options at $0.40 per share. 

 

2010 

Balance 
1 July 
2009 

Granted 
as 

Compen
-sation 

Net 
Change 
Other** 

Balance 
30 June 

2010 

Total 
Vested 
30 June 

2010 

Total 
Vested & 
Exercis-
able 30 
June 
2010 

Total 
Vested & 

Unexercis-
able 30 June 

2010 

Key Management 
Personnel 

       

Mr. John Pereira - - 622,413 622,413 622,413 622,413 - 

Mr. David Carruthers - - 41,668 41,668 41,668 41,668 - 

Mr. Clifford Clayton - - - - - - - 

 - - 664,081 664,081 664,081 664,081 - 

**Net Change Other refers to options or shares purchased or sold during the financial year on market. The options have an exercise date of 31 August 
2010 and an exercise price of $0.40. All Current Directors exercised their options at $0.40 per share. 
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NOTE 7: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  

  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the entity for:    

- Auditing or Reviewing the Financial Report  30,500 68,000 

- Other Taxation Services  30,950 9,305 

Remuneration of auditors of Subsidiaries for:    

- Auditing or Reviewing the Financial Report   18,000 14,000 

  79,450 91,305 

 
NOTE 8: DIVIDENDS 
 

No dividends were paid or provided for during the year (2010: Nil).    

 

The decline in the global financial markets since January 2008 has significantly eroded the accumulated 
reserves of the Company such that the Directors consider it inappropriate to declare a dividend based on the 
results to 30 June 2011. Refer for full details to Note 2, Return of Capital.  
 
(a) Franking Credits 

 
The ability for India Equities Fund Limited to pay franked dividends is dependent upon the Company paying 
tax. At 30 June 2011 the Company has not paid tax in Australia as it has sufficient foreign tax credits and 
losses to offset against its current tax liabilities. 
 
(b) Listed Investment Company capital gain account 

 
Balance of the Listed Investment Company (LIC) capital gain 
account 

 494,083 173,480 

This would equate to an attributable amount of  705,833 247,829 
 
Distributable LIC capital gains may entitle certain shareholders to a special deduction in their taxation return, 
as set out in the dividend statement. LIC capital gains available for distribution are dependent upon the 
disposal of investment portfolio holdings which qualify for LIC capital gains. 
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NOTE 9: EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

  Consolidated 

 
 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

(a) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or (loss) after tax    

(Loss) After Tax attributable to members  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

    
(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the period used in calculating basic EPS 
 

 
121,357,807 94,179,446 

Weighted average number of options outstanding   - 1,956,104 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and options 
outstanding during the year used in calculating diluted EPS  

 
121,357,807 96,135,550 

    
Comprehensive Income:    

(Loss) for the year  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

Other Comprehensive Income for the year, Net of Tax  (12,443,720) 8,205,785 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  (5,386,094) 4,848,460 

 
 
NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at Bank and in Hand  7,125,417 26,032,458 

Reconciliation of Cash    

Cash at the end of the financial period as shown in the Statement 
of Cash Flows is reconciled to items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows: 

   

Cash and Cash Equivalents  7,125,417 26,032,458 

  7,125,417 26,032,458 
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NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
 

  Consolidated 

 
 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Current – Loans & Receivables    

Trade Receivables  - 816 

Other Receivables  169,498 193,470 

Amounts Receivable from:    

- Sundry Debtors  15,387 4,210 

- GST Receivable  1,904 46,287 

- Dividend Receivable  - 274,554 

  186,789 519,337 

 

There are no balances within trade and other receivables that contain assets that are impaired. Those 
balances past due are expected to be received in full. All assets are assessed for impairment and are 
provided for in full, where identified to be impaired. 
 
Credit Risk – Trade and Other Receivables 
 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counter party or group of 
counter parties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 11. The 
class of assets described as Trade and Other Receivables is considered to be the main sources of credit risk 
related to the Group. 
 
On a geographical basis, the Group has a significant credit risk exposure in Australia and India given the 
substantial operations in those regions. The Group‘s exposure to credit risk for receivables at reporting date 
in those regions is as follows: 
 

AUD    

Australia  17,291 244,783 

India  169,498 274,554 

  189,789 519,337 

 
The following table details the Group‘s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis 
and impairment provided thereon. Amounts are considered as ‗past due‘ when the debt has not been settled 
with the terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or counter party to the transaction. 
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are 
provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the 
Group. 
 
The balances of receivables that remain within initial trading terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to 
be high credit quality. 
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NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)  
 
  Past due but not impaired  

 

Gross 
Amount 

Past due 
and 

Impaired < 30 31-60 61-90 >90 

Within 
initial 
Trade 
Terms 

        

2011        

Trade Receivables - - - - - - - 

Other Receivables 186,789 - - - - - 186,789 

Total 186,789 - - - - - 186,789 

        

        

2010        

Trade Receivables 816 - - - - 816 - 

Other Receivables 518,521 - - - - - 518,521 

Total 519,337 - - - - 816 518,521 

 
NOTE 12: FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

  Consolidated 

 

Note 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

CURRENT    
Derivative Financial Assets Held-for-Trading 12(a) - 27,400 

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 12(b) - 55,225,677 

  - 55,253,077 

 

(a) Derivative Financial Assets Comprise:    

CURRENT    

Call option held, at fair value through profit and loss  - 27,400 

  - 27,400 

 

(b) Available-for-Sale Financial Assets comprise:    

CURRENT    

Listed investments, at fair value    

- Shares in listed corporations available-for-sale  - 55,225,677 

Total Current Financial Assets  - 55,225,677 
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NOTE 12: FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 
  
Listed investments are valued at the closing bid price on the last business date of the financial year.  
 
An EGM was held on 7 July 2010 to approve the disposal of the Company‘s main undertaking and to 
implement an equal capital reduction based on 90% of the after tax NTA per share as at 31 July 2010. The 
Company's shareholders voted overwhelmingly in favour of the resolution.  
 
The Company immediately issued instructions for the sale of all of the listed equity securities held by it in 
India and transferred the proceeds back to Australia to be held on deposit until required to fund the return of 
capital. 

 
NOTE 13: OTHER ASSETS 
 
  Consolidated 

 

Note 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Current    

Prepayments  17,534 101,532 

Accrued Interest  11,497 10,857 

  29,031 112,389 

 
NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    

Plant and Equipment:    

At Cost  96,811 122,242 

Accumulated Depreciation  (45,469) (35,240) 

  51,342 87,002 

Total Plant and Equipment  51,342 87,002 

 
Movements in Carrying Amounts 
Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and 
the end of the current financial year. 
 
 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Consolidated:    
Balance at 1 July 2009 16,544 21,143 37,687 

Additions 64,188 5,376 69,564 

Depreciation Expense (17,027) (3,222) (20,249) 

Balance at 30 June 2010 63,705 23,297 87,002 
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NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 
 
 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
Balance at 1 July 2010 63,705 23,297 87,002 

Additions - 2,227 2,227 

Disposals (2,886) (16,669) (19,555) 

Depreciation Expense (15,949) (2,383) (18,332) 

Balance at 30 June 2011 44,870 6,472 51,342 

 
NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  Consolidated 

 

Note 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

    
Goodwill in Controlled Entity   - - 

Management Agreement  - - 

  - - 

 
Impairment 
During the 2010 year, the Group reviewed indicators for potential impairment in the value of associated 
goodwill which arose as a result of the acquisition by the Group of Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd. The 
EGM referred to in Note 2, Capital Return, terminated the future income under the Management Agreement 
upon which the value of these assets were determined. Accordingly the Directors have impaired these assets 
by 100%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Consolidated 

Management 
Agreement 

$ 

Goodwill in 
Controlled 

Entity 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Opening Balance 1 July 2009 2,740,000 112,997 2,852,997 
Amortisation (348,225) - (348,225) 

Impairment (2,391,775) (112,997) (2,504,772) 

Net Carrying Value at 30 June 2010 - - - 

    
Opening Balance at 1 July 2010 - - - 

Amortisation - - - 

Impairment - - - 

Net Carrying Value at 30 June 2011 - - - 



 

 60 

INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
ABN 15 121 415 576 and Controlled Entities 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
NOTE 16: CONTROLLED ENTITIES  
 
Controlled Entities 
 

*Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership  

^On 7 July 2010 the 1% holding in India Asset Holdings Pty Ltd owned by John Pereira who resigned on 7 July 2010 was passed to Don Christie, who resigned on 5 

November 2010 and was passed on to Gabriel Radzyminski. 

 

 
NOTE 17: DEFERRED TAX 

Consolidated 

Opening 
balance 

$ 

Charged to 
income 

$ 

Charged 
directly to 

equity 
$ 

Closing 
Balance 

$ 

2011     

Current     

Deferred Tax Liability     

Fair Value Gain 3,698,944 - (3,698,944) - 

Dividends Receivable  - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011 3,698,944 - (3,698,944) - 

     

Deferred Tax Assets     

Provisions - - - - 

Transaction costs on equity issue - - 311,552 311,552 

Fair Value Loss - - - - 

Deferred tax assets attributable to Tax Losses 3,698,944 (3,698,944) - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011 3,698,944 (3,698,944) 311,552 311,552 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage Owned (%)* 

  June 2011 June 2010 

Parent Entity:    

India Equities Fund Limited Australia   

Controlled Entities of India Equities Fund 
Limited: 

   

Asia Diversified Fund Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

India Asset Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

India Asset Holdings Pty Ltd^ Australia 99 99 

Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
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NOTE 17: DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 
 

Consolidated 

Opening 
balance 

$ 

Charged to 
income 

$ 

Charged 
directly to 

equity 
$ 

Closing 
Balance 

$ 

2010     

Current     

Deferred Tax Liability     

Fair Value Gain 1,929,323 - 1,769,621 3,698,944 

Dividends Receivable  18,206 (18,206) - - 

Balance at 30 June 2010 1,947,529 (18,206) 1,769,621 3,698,944 

     

Deferred Tax Assets     

Provisions 13,200 (13,200) - - 

Transaction costs on equity issue 465,227 - (465,227) - 

Fair Value Loss 109,927 (109,927) - - 

Deferred tax assets attributable to Tax Losses 5,475,274 (1,776,330) - 3,698,944 

Balance at 30 June 2010 6,063,628 (1,899,457) (465,227) 3,698,944 

     
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been adjusted down to represent managements estimates of carried 
forward losses that will be utilised on the realisation of the investment portfolio. Refer to Note 2 for further 
details. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to capital raising costs have been recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position totalling $311,552. 

 
NOTE 18: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Current    

Unsecured Liabilities    

Trade Payables  18,037 195,150 

Sundry Payables and Accrued Expenses  33,002 1,107,702 

  51,039 1,302,852 

 
Due to the short term nature of trade payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 
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NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL 

  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

121,813,066 (2010: 108,114,508) fully paid securities  14,959,941 82,622,166 

  14,959,941 82,622,166 

 

(a) Ordinary Shares  
2011 
No. 

2010 
No. 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

At the beginning of reporting period 108,114,508 70,579,169 82,622,166 69,699,521 

Movement in Ordinary Shares issued during 
period: 

    

- 3 September 2009 – Rights Issue  23,527,730 - 9,411,092 

- 3 September 2009 – Placement  5,000,000 - 2,000,000 

- 29 September 2009 – Options Exercised  6,080 - 2,432 

- 7 October 2009 – Options Exercised  1,226 - 490 

- 27 October 2009 – Options Exercised  6,571 - 2,628 

- 10 November 2009 – Options Exercised  1,491 - 596 

- 29 January 2010 – Options Exercised  4,235 - 1,694 

- 4 March 2010 – Options Exercised  667 - 266 

- 16 March 2010 – Options Exercised  2,573 - 1,029 

- 1 April 2010 – Options Exercised  4,696 - 1,878 

- 23 April 2010 – Options Exercised  2,745 - 1,098 

- 30 April 2010 – Options Exercised  30,365 - 12,146 

- 6 May 2010 – Options Exercised  16,809 - 6,724 

- 24 May 2010 – Options Exercised  17,986 - 7,195 

- 7 June 2010 – Options Exercised  13,671 - 5,469 

- 22 June 2010 – Options Exercised  2,834,203 - 1,133,682 

- 30 June 2010 – Options Exercised  6,064,291 - 2,425,717 

- 5 July 2010 – Options Exercised 1,485,843 - 594,337 - 

- 13 July 2010 – Options Exercised 2,475,820 - 990,328 - 

- 23 July 2010 – Options Exercised 8,192,231 - 3,276,893 - 

- 12 August 2010 Options Exercised 518,570 - - - 

- 20 August 2010 – Return of Capital - - (72,656,201) - 

- 25 August 2010 – Options Exercised 795,356 - - - 

- 15 September 2010 – Options Exercised 230,738 - - - 

Net share issue costs - - 132,418 (2,091,491) 

At Reporting Date – 30 June  121,813,066 108,114,508 14,959,941 82,622,166 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
(a) Ordinary Shares (Continued) 
 
On the 3 September 2009 India Equities Fund Limited issued 28,527,730 Ordinary Shares at $0.40 cents 
pursuant to the Rights Issue Prospectus and 23,527,730 Options exercisable at $0.40 cents on or prior to 31 
August 2010. 
 
On the 29 September 2009 holders of 6,080 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their 
options into 6,080 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue 
Prospectus dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 7 October 2009 holders of 1,226 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 1,226 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 27 October 2009 holders of 6,571 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 6,571 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
  
On the 10 November 2009 holders of 1,491 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their 
options into 1,491 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue 
Prospectus dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 29 January 2010 holders of 4,235 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 4,235 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009. 
 
On the 4 March 2010 holders of 667 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options into 
667 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus dated 30 
July 2009.  
 
On the 16 March 2010 holders of 2,573 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 2,573 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 1 April 2010 holders of 4,696 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options into 
4,696 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus dated 
30 July 2009. 
 
On the 23 April 2010 holders of 2,745 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options into 
2,745 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus dated 
30 July 2009. 
 
On the 30 April 2010 holders of 30,365 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 30,365 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 6 May 2010 holders of 16,806 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options into 
16,809 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus dated 
30 July 2009.  
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NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 

(a) Ordinary Shares (Continued) 
On the 24 May 2010 holders of 17,986 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 17,986 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 7 June 2010 holders of 13,671 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options into 
13,671 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus dated 
30 July 2009. 
 
On the 22 June 2010 holders of 2,834,203 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 2,834,203 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 30 June 2010 holders of 6,604,291 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 6,604,291 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 5 July 2010 holders of 1,485,843 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 1,485,843Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 13 July 2010 holders of 2,475,820 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 2,475,820 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 23 July 2010 holders of 8,192,231 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their options 
into 8,192,231 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.40 cents per the Rights Issue Prospectus 
dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 12 August 2010 holders of 518,570 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their 
options into 518,570 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.00 cents per the Rights Issue 
Prospectus dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 20 August 2010 the Company returned capital of $72,656,201, refer to Note 2 for further details. 
  
On the 25 August 2010 holders of 795,356 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their 
options into 795,356 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.00 cents per the Rights Issue 
Prospectus dated 30 July 2009.  
 
On the 15 September 2010 holders of 230,738 Options (INEO) validly exercised their right to convert their 
options into 230,738 Ordinary Shares in India Equities Fund Limited at $0.00 cents per the Rights Issue 
Prospectus dated 30 July 2009.  
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NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
(b) Capital Management 
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to provide shareholders with returns through capital 
growth in the medium to long term and ensure that the entity can fund its operations and continue as a going 
concern. 
 
India Equities Fund Limited does not have any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
During the year, the Company implemented a substantial capital return as detailed in Note 2. The Board is 
currently reviewing the strategy of the Company. Until such time a formal announcement to the shareholders 
and the ASX is made, the capital of the Company will be invested in low risk assets. 
 
India Equities Fund Limited does not have any debt at 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil).    

 

NOTE 20: RESERVES 
 
  Consolidated 

 

Note 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

    
Asset Revaluation Reserve  20(a) - 12,443,720 

Realised Capital Gains Reserve 20(b) 494,083 173,480 

  494,083 12,617,200 

 
a) Asset Revaluation Reserve 
The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets. This includes available-for-sale 
investments. Under certain circumstances dividends can be declared from this reserve. 

 
Asset Revaluation Reserve 

Opening Balance at 1 July   12,443,720 4,237,935 

Revaluation of Investment Portfolio  (16,142,664) 10,088,471 

Provision for Tax on Unrealised (Losses)  3,698,944 (1,882,686) 

Closing balance at 30 June  - 12,443,720 
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NOTE 20: RESERVES (Continued) 

 
b) Realised Capital Gains Reserve 

 
The reserve records gains or losses after applicable taxation arising from disposal of securities in the 
investment portfolio as described in accounting policy note 1 (a). As the balance relates to net realised 
gains it may be distributed as cash dividends at the discretion of the Directors. 
 
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company on 7 July 2010 Shareholders approved the disposal 
of the Company‘s main undertaking and of implementing an equal capital reduction based on 90% of the 
after tax NTA per share as at 31 July 2010. The net capital gain after deducting capital losses for the year 
was $458,004. An amount of $320,603 has been moved to the Realised Capital Gains Reserve, which 
represents the net gain, after tax. 
 

  Consolidated 

 

Note 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

    

Opening Balance at 1 July   173,480 173,480 

Transfer from Retained Earnings  320,603 - 

Dividends Paid  - - 

Closing Balance at 30 June  494,083 173,480 

 
 

NOTE 21: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
There are no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). 
 
NOTE 22: SEGMENT REPORTING 
 

Segment Products and Locations 
 
The Group has adopted AABS 8 ―Operating Segments‖ from 1 July 2009 where by segment information is 
presented using a ‗management approach‘, i.e. segment information is provided on the same basis as 
information used for internal reporting purposes by the chief decision maker (the Board of Directors). This has 
resulted in each main group being shown separately. 
 
Description of segments 
 
India Equities Fund Limited (India Equities) 
India Equities invested in companies listed on two Indian stock exchanges. As of July 2010 this portfolio was 
disposed of and the Board are currently reviewing the strategic direction of the Company. 
 
Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd (Olympus) 
Olympus provides management services under a long term agreement with India Equities Fund Limited (India 
Equities) which is not due to expire until 2017. At 30 June 2011, India Equities was the only client of Olympus. 
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NOTE 22: SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 
 
Accounting policies adopted 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker with 
respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to 
those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 

 
Inter-segment transactions 
Internally generated revenue transactions are only between Olympus and India Equities which are agreed 
based on the Investment Manager and Manager agreements that have been executed. All such transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation for the Group‘s financial statements. 
 
Segment assets 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that received the 
majority of economic value from the asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable 
on the basis of the nature and physical location. 
 
Unless indicated otherwise in the segments assets note, investments in financial assets, deferred tax assets 
and intangible assets have been allocated to operating segments as they form core operations of that 
segment. 
 
Segment liabilities 
Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability and the 
operations of the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the Group as a 
whole and are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other payable. 
 

 India Equities Fund  
Limited 

Olympus Funds 
Management Pty Ltd Total 

Consolidated 

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

       
(i) SEGMENT PERFORMANCE       

Revenue       

External Revenue 13,579,073 5,541,129 1,003 1,933 13,580,076 5,543,062 

Inter-Segment Revenue 30,999 - (244,891) 1,584,251 (213,892) 1,584,251 

Total Segment Revenue 13,610,072 5,541,129 (243,888) 1,586,184 13,366,184 7,127,313 

       
Reconciliation of Segment 
Revenue to Group Revenue 

    

  

Inter-Segment Elimination     (213,892) (1,584,251) 

Total Group Revenue     13,580,076 5,543,062 

Segment Net (Loss) Before 
Tax 11,477,292 (1,960,910) 80,292 (656,090) 11,557,584 (1,304,820) 
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NOTE 22: SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 

 India Equities Fund  
Limited 

Olympus Funds 
Management Pty Ltd Total 

Consolidated 

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

       

(ii) SEGMENT ASSETS       

Segment Assets  7,692,861 86,294,653 11,882 1,758,159 7,704,743 88,052,812 
Segment Asset movements for 
the Period       

Financial Assets - 3,301,720 - - - 3,301,720 

Property, Plant & Equipment 40,785 55,531 10,557 14,219 51,342 69,750 

 40,785 3,357,251 10,557 14,219 51,342 3,371,470 

Reconciliation of Segment Assets 
to Group Assets       

Inter-Segment Eliminations     (612) (2,349,605) 

Total Group Assets from 
Continuing Operations      7,704,131 85,703,207 

 
 

 India Equities Fund  
Limited 

Olympus Funds 
Management Pty Ltd Total 

Consolidated 

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

       

(iii) SEGMENT LIABILITIES       

Segment Liabilities  39,237 5,512,418 12,213 5,120,704 51,450 10,633,122 

Reconciliation of Segment 
Liabilities to Group Liabilities 

      

Inter-Segment Eliminations - - (411) (5,631,326) (411) (5,631,326) 

Total Group Liabilities from 
Continuing Operations  39,237 5,512,418 11,802 (510,622) 51,039 5,001,796 
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NOTE 22: SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
(iv) REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION 

 
Revenue attributable to external customers is disclosed below, based on the location of the external customer: 

 

   Consolidated 

     June 
2011 

$ 

June  
2010 

$ 

Geographical 
location: 

      

Australia     792,258 60,688 

India     12,787,818 5,482,374 

     13,580,076 5,543,062 

 
(v) ASSETS BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION 

 
The location of segment assets is disclosed below by geographical location of the assets: 

 

Geographical location:       

Australia     7,534,566 28,258,741 

India     169,565 57,444,466 

     7,704,131 85,703,207 
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NOTE 23: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

  Consolidated 

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operating with 
Profit/(Loss) after Income Tax  

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

(Loss) after Income Tax  7,057,626 (3,357,325) 

Non-Cash Flows in Profit:    

- Net (Loss)/Gain on Disposal of Investments  (12,787,818) (4,586,211) 

- Net (Gain) on Disposal of Futures  - (56,950) 

- Unrealised Loss/(Gain) on Foreign Currency  59,172 8,443 

- Realised Loss/(Gain) on Foreign Currency  - 2,399 

- Realised Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets  17,844 - 

- Depreciation  18,333 20,249 

- Amortisation  - 348,225 

- Impairment of Reserves  - 750,361 

- Intangible Assets Impairment  27,400 2,504,773 

Changes in assets and liabilities:    

- Decrease/(Increase) in Trade Receivables  308,577 (178,727) 

- Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments  83,358 (71,902) 

- Decrease/(Increase) in Deferred Taxes  3,698,944 1,652,468 

- (Decrease)/Increase in Trade Payables & Accruals  (775,216) 495,163 

Cash Flow from Operations  (2,291,780) (2,469,034) 

 
NOTE 24: PARENT ENTITY 
 
     June 

2011 
$ 

June  
2010 

$ 

       

Current Assets     7,651,876 85,523,548 

Non-Current Assets     40,985 771,105 

Total Assets     7,692,861 86,294,653 

Current Liabilities     39,237 5,512,419 

Non-Current Liabilities     - - 

Total Liabilities     39,237 5,512,419 

Issued Capital     14,959,941 82,622,166 

Reserves     494,083 12,617,200 

Shareholders’ Equity    7,653,624 80,782,234 

Profit/(Loss)     6,977,334 (3,515,571) 

Total Comprehensive Income    (5,466,386) 4,690,215 
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NOTE 24: PARENT ENTITY (Continued) 
 
Intercompany Loans Receivable 
 
At the 30 June 2011 the Company had intercompany receivables of the following: 
 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Non-Current    

Amounts Receivable from Subsidiaries:    

- India Asset Holdings Pty Ltd:    

At cost  2,587,696 2,844,636 

Less: Receivable Provision  (2,587,696) (2,281,694) 

  - 562,942 

- India Asset Management Pty Ltd    

At cost  144,522 143,807 

Less: Receivable Provision  (144,522) - 

  - 706,749 

 
NOTE 25: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Transactions with related parties    

Sandon Capital Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Mr. Gabriel 
Radzyminski. Sandon Capital provided general consulting services to India 
Equities. All dealings are conducted at arm‘s length on normal commercial 
terms. 

12,750 - 

TCA Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Mr. David Carruthers through 
which he provided CFO services. All dealings are conducted at arm‘s 
length on normal commercial terms. 171,500 127,730 

Starr Corporation Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Mr. John Pereira and 
in which he provided Managing Director and CEO services in addition to 
corporate administration service for various Group entities. All dealings are 
conducted at arm‘s length on normal commercial terms. 

610,400 477,366 
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NOTE 25: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

 
  Consolidated 

 

 

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Greater Asia Investment Limited is an entity associated with Mr. John 
Pereira, Mr. David Carruthers, Mr. Don Christie and Mr. Clifford Clayton 
which incurred joint advertising and promotional costs with India Equities 
Fund Limited. All dealings are conducted at arm‘s length on normal 
commercial terms. - 46,066 

Atlas Capital Management Limited is an entity associated with Mr. John 
Pereira and Mr. David Carruthers which incurred joint advertising and 
promotional costs with India Equities Fund Limited. All dealings are 
conducted at arm‘s length on normal commercial terms. - 11,854 

 
There were no outstanding balances at year end.  

 
NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Financial Risk Management 
The Group‘s financial instruments consisted mainly of securities listed on India‘s two exchanges in 2010 and 
cash on deposit in 2011. Other financial instruments include deposits with banks, accounts receivable and 
payable, and derivatives (specifically Indian futures stock contracts).  
 
Subsequent to the sell down of the portfolio and the return of capital in August 2010 there has been a 
significant reduction in Price, Currency, Credit and Liquidity risks. The majority of statements relating to 
Financial Risk Management in this note refer to the 2010 comparatives. 
 
The totals for each category of financial instruments measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed on 
the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 
   Consolidated 

 
  

June 
2011 

June 
2010 

  Note $ $ 

Financial Assets     

Cash and Cash Equivalents  10 7,125,417 26,032,458 

Trade and Other Receivables  11 186,789 519,337 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

- Derivative Financial Assets Held-for-trading  12 - 27,400 

Available-for-sale financial assets     

- Equity investments  12 - 55,225,677 

   7,312,206 81,804,872 

Financial Liabilities     

Trade and Other Payables  18 51,039 1,302,852 

   51,039 1,302,852 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 
 
The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position have been analysed 
and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels: 
 

 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
 

 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and  

 

 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 
3). 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 

2011     
Financial Assets:     

Available-for-sale financial assets     

- Listed Investments - - - - 

Held-for trading Financial Assets     

- Derivatives - - - - 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

2010     

Financial Assets:     

Available-for-sale financial assets     

- Listed Investments 55,255,677 - - 55,255,677 

Held-for trading Financial Assets     

- Derivatives - 27,400 - 27,400 

 
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

 
The main risks arising from the Groups‘ financial instruments are price and foreign currency risk. Other risks 
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
(i) Price Risk 

The Group is exposed to share price risk through its investment holdings on the Indian markets. The 
Investment Manager Olympus Funds Management Pty Limited, manages the Portfolio within the context 
of the agreed investment parameters (see below) and identifies securities to be bought, held or sold and 
arranges for securities to be traded. Until 31 December 2009, the investment policies and procedures of 
the Kotak Mahindra Group support the investment decision making and risk management processes 
applied, in managing a portfolio. Thereafter Olympus Funds Management Pty Limited implemented a 
range of policies and procedures appropriate for their new role as Investment Manager. All equity 
investments are publicly traded on either the National Stock Exchange of India (NSE) or the Bombay 
Stock Exchange (BSE) and holdings are predominantly in large cap highly liquid securities.   
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
(i) Price Risk (Continued) 

 
The agreed investment parameters identified by management are: 

 
- Invest 60-100% of the portfolio in BSE and NSE listed equities and target around 80% of the 

portfolio being invested in large cap (market capitalisation of approximately A$1.2bn or more) listed 
Indian companies; 

- Have the flexibility to acquire up to 30% mid/small cap listed entities; 
- Limit investment in small cap equities to companies with market capitalisations of greater than 

approximately A$200 million at the time of investment; 
- Invest in companies involved in a wide variety of industries by holding no more than 20% of the 

portfolio in any one sector; 
- Typically hold investments in around 45 companies with a minimum holding of 20 and  a maximum 

holding of 70 investments once the portfolio has been established;  
- Emphasise holding investments for the long term; 
- Utilise a variety of derivative instruments on a non-leveraged basis; and 
- Hold cash and short-term interest rate securities, up to 30% of the portfolio, when appropriate. 
 

The Group‘s exposure to price risk, which is the risk that an instruments value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in a securities price on classes of financial assets and liabilities, is as follows: 

 

  Consolidated 

 
 

June 
2011 

June 
2010 

  $ $ 

Financial Assets:    

Available-for-sale financial assets  - 55,225,677 

Derivative financial assets held-for-trading  - 27,400 

  - 55,253,077 

 
(ii) Foreign Currency Risk 

 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the Indian Rupee/Australian Dollar exchange rate arising from the 
investment in Indian listed securities and futures contracts, and the retention of surplus funds in Rupees.  
 
As the primary investment activity is in India and the Group maintains a policy of remaining unhedged, the 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Cash Flows can 
be affected significantly by movements in the INR/AUD exchange rates.   
 
The Group also had transactional currency exposures which arose during the current financial year when 
funds were periodically transferred from India to cover the group‘s working capital requirements.  
 
The Directors monitor the appropriateness of their policy by periodically reviewing the continuing 
appropriateness of such an approach. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
As at 30 June 2011, the Group had the following exposure in Australian Dollars to Indian Rupees without 
any currency hedging: 
 
  Consolidated 

 
 

June 
2011 

June 
2010 

  $ $ 

Financial Assets:    

Cash and Cash Equivalents  67 1,750,766 

Trade and Other Receivables  - 274,554 

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets  - 55,225,677 

  67 57,250,997 

Financial Liabilities:    

Trade and Other Payables  3,000 2,504 

  3,000 2,504 

 
(iii) Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Group has adopted a policy of not leveraging its investment portfolio. Accordingly the Directors 
believe that this exposure is relatively low and does not pose a material risk to the Group. At 30 June 2011 
and 30 June 2010 India Equities Fund Limited had not incurred any debt, nor had any available borrowing 
facilities. 
 
The Group‘s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that the financial instruments value will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates 
on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows: 

 

 
Weighted 

Average Effective 
Interest Rate 

Floating Interest Rate 
$ 

Fixed Interest Rate 
$ 

Consolidated 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Financial Assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents 5.18% 5.44% 125,350 1,002,714 7,000,000 23,116,008 

Trade and Other Receivables   - - - - 

Loan Receivable   - - - - 

Total Financial Assets   125,350 1,002,714 7,000,000 23,116,008 

       

Financial Liabilities:       

Trade and Other Payables   - - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities   - - - - 

Net Exposure   125,350 1,002,714 7,000,000 23,116,008 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
(iii) Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 

 
 Non-Interest Bearing 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Consolidated 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Financial Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents 67 1,913,736 7,125,417 26,032,458 

Trade and Other Receivables - 519,337 - 519,337 

Loan Receivable - - - - 

Total Financial Assets 67 2,433,073 7,125,417 26,551,795 

     

Financial Liabilities:     

Trade and Other Payables 51,039 1,302,852 51,039 1,302,852 

Total Financial Liabilities 51,039 1,302,852 51,039 1,302,852 

Net Exposure (50,972) 1,130,221 7,074,378 25,248,943 

 

(iv) Liquidity Risk 
 

The Group‘s objective is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet the needs of operations 
through cash flow monitoring and forecasting, which is done on a weekly basis. In addition, the focus of 
the investment portfolio on large cap and highly liquid securities ensures that the Group has access to 
significant proportion of its portfolio within a short time frame. 
 
The table below reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs and receivables for settlement, repayments and 
interest resulting from recognised financial assets and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments 
as of 30 June 2011. For derivative financial instruments the market value is presented, whereas for the 
other obligations the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective upcoming fiscal years are 
presented. Cash flows for financial assets and liabilities without fixed amount or timing are based on the 
conditions existing at 30 June 2011. 
 
The table below reflects the maturity of financial assets and liabilities based on management‘s 
expectations. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in 
the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
(iv) Liquidity Risk (Continued) 

 

 
Within 1 Year 

$ 
1 to 5 Years 

$ 

Over 5 
Years 

$ 

Total Contracted  
Cash Flows 

$ 

Consolidated 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Financial Liabilities 
due for payment 

      
 

 

Trade and Other 
Payables 

51,039 1,302,852 - - - - 51,039 1,302,852 

Total Expected 
Outflows 

51,039 1,302,852 - - - - 51,039 1,302,852 

         

Financial Assets – 
cash flows realisable 

        

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 7,125,417 26,032,458 - - - - 7,125,417 26,032,458 
Trade and Other 
Receivables 186,789 519,337 - - - - 186,789 519,337 
Investments – Available-
for-sale - 55,225,677 - - - - - 55,225,677 

Derivatives – gross settled        

  Contracted Inflows - 27,400 - - - - - 27,400 

  Contracted Outflows - - - - - - - - 

Total anticipated 
inflows 

7,312,206 81,804,872 - - - - 7,312,206 81,804,872 

Net Inflow on Financial 
Instruments 7,261,167 80,502,020 - - - - 7,261,167 80,502,020 

 

 

(v) Credit Risk 
 

Derivative Financial Instruments  
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise equity investments, cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and derivative instruments. The Group‘s exposure to credit 
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments. 
 
The equity investments of the Group must satisfy both the investment parameters (refer to Note 26: 
Financial Risk Management (i) Price Risk) agreed with the Investment Manager and the credit 
assessment processes of the Kotak Mahindra Group. 
 
Surplus cash is only invested with highly rated international financial institutions in India and Australia. 
 
The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure. 
 
Receivable balances arising from Indian broker relations are monitored on an ongoing basis and the 
Group has no debts past due or impaired. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
(v) Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
At 30 June 2011 the Company did not hold any single stock future derivatives. All derivatives held at 30 
June 2009 were single stock futures contracts with expiration dates of 31 July 2009. All contracts are 
traded on the National Stock Exchange of India. The Investment Manager purchases a position in a single 
stock futures contract to gain exposure to the change in price of the underlying stock. 
 
As some listed stocks in India have Foreign Institutional Investor (FII) ownership limits, the Investment 
Manager can utilise these futures contracts to gain exposure to stocks close to, or at, their FII ownership 
limit. 
 
At 30 June 2011 the Company did not hold any cash settled futures contracts. At 30 June 2009 the Group 
held 2,100 July 2009 cash settled futures contracts of Lupin Ltd and 12,500 July 2009 cash settled futures 
contracts of NSE Ltd valued at $43,593 and $1,386,101 respectively. 
 
Net Fair Values 
The Group‘s financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts that approximate their fair value. 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying values as presented in the Statement of Financial Position. Fair values are 
those amounts that which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm‘s length transaction.  
 
Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, where changes 
in assumptions may have a material impact on the amounts estimated. Where possible, valuation 
information used to calculate fair value is extracted from the market, with more reliable information 
available from markets that are actively traded.  In this regard, fair values for listed securities have been 
valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date adjusted for transaction costs expected to be 
incurred.  

 

 Note 
Net Carrying 

Value Net Fair Value 
Net Carrying 

Value Net Fair Value 

Consolidated  
2011 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2010 

$ 

Financial Assets      
Cash and Cash Equivalents i 7,125,417 7,125,417 26,032,458 26,032,458 

Trade and Other Receivables i 186,789 186,789 519,337 519,337 

Investments – Available-for-sale ii - - 55,225,677 55,225,677 

Derivatives – held-for-trading ii - - 27,400 - 

Total Financial Assets  7,312,206 7,312,206 81,804,872 81,777,472 

Financial Liabilities      
Trade and Other Payables i 51,039 51,039 1,302,852 1,302,852 

Total Financial Liabilities  51,039 51,039 1,302,852 1,302,852 

 
The fair values disclosed in the above table have been determined based on the following methodologies: 
 
i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are short-term 

instruments in nature whose carrying value is equivalent to fair value. Trade and other payables 
exclude amounts provided for related to annual leave which is not considered a financial instrument. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
(v) Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
Net Fair Values (Continued) 

 
ii) For listed available-for-sale and held-for-trading financial assets, closing quoted bid prices at reporting 

date are used. The directors have determined that the fair values of unlisted available-for-sale financial 
assets cannot be reliably measured as variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is 
significant. Consequently, such assets are recognised at cost and their fair values have also been 
stated at cost in the table above. 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to price risk, foreign currency risk 
and interest rate risk, at the end of the reporting period. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect 
on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks. 

 

  Consolidated 

Price Risk  

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Held-for-trading financial assets and derivatives    
Change in Profit    

- Increase in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

- Decrease in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

Held-for-trading financial assets and derivatives    

Change in Equity    

- Increase in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

- Decrease in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

 
Held-for-trading derivatives are actively managed on a short term basis and are fair valued through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Any movement in the portfolio price will be realised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. India Equities Fund Limited has an estimated absolute benchmark 
return of 20%. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets    

Change in Profit    

- Increase in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

- Decrease in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - - 

Change in Equity    

- Increase in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - 11,045,135 

- Decrease in portfolio prices by 20.0%  - (11,045,135) 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are passively managed on a longer term basis and are fair valued 
through the equity reserves, with no effect on the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless sold or 
impaired. India Equities Fund Limited had an estimated absolute benchmark return of 20% for the 2010 
year. 
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
(v) Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
Sensitivity Analysis (Continued) 
 

  Consolidated 

Price Risk  

June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

Foreign Currency Rate Risk    

Change in Profit    

- Increase in Indian Rupee/Australian Dollar rate by 
10.0% 

 7 202,532 

- Decrease in Indian Rupee/Australian Dollar rate by 
10.0% 

 (7) (202,532) 

Change in Equity    

- Increase in Indian Rupee/Australian Dollar rate by 
20.0% 

 - 11,045,135 

- Decrease in Indian Rupee/Australian Dollar rate by 
20.0% 

 - (11,045,135) 

 
Since the portfolios inception the INR/AUD exchange rate has moved substantially, in the vicinity of 20%. 
Depending on the class of asset held the effect of interest rate movements will influence the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position differently. All current assets held in Indian 
Rupees will affect the Statement of Comprehensive Income and retained earnings, while all non-current 
assets will affect the reserve balances only. 

 

Interest Rate Risk    

Change in Profit    

- Increase in interest rate by 0.5%  627 5,014 

- Decrease in interest rate by 0.5%  (627) (5,014) 

Change in Equity    

- Increase in interest rate by 0.5%  627 5,014 

- Decrease in interest rate by 0.5%  (627) (5,014) 

 
 
NOTE 27: INVESTMENT MANAGER & MANAGER 
 
The Investment Manager until 31 December 2009 was Kotak Mahindra (UK) Limited (KMUK) and the Manager 
was Olympus Funds Management Pty Ltd (Olympus). They received a monthly management fee for 
investment services provided in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement and the Manager 
Agreement respectively. 
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NOTE 27: INVESTMENT MANAGER & MANAGER (Continued) 
 
On the 31 December 2009 Kotak Mahindra (UK) Limited ceased acting as Investment Manager, with Olympus 
Funds Management Pty Ltd becoming the Investment Manager and Prudential Asset Management 
(Singapore) Limited (PAMS) transitioning to provide advice on specific purchases and sales of Indian Listed 
securities for the Company‘s portfolio. 
 
The Investment Management Agreement with KMUK provided for a monthly investment management fee 
equal to 0.0625% of the Portfolio Net Asset Value calculated on the last Business Day of each month 
(equivalent to a fee of 0.75% per annum in total) payable monthly in arrears until terminated at 31 December 
2009. 
  
The Investment Advisory Agreement with Prudential Asset Management (Singapore) Limited (PAMS) provided 
for a monthly advisory fee equal to 0.0333% of the Portfolio Net Asset Value calculated on the last business 
day of each month equivalent to a fee of 0.40% per annum in total payable monthly in arrears. 
 
A performance fee was to be paid to the Investment Manager when the Portfolio Return (net of management 
fees), expressed in Australian Dollars is: 
 

 More than an absolute return of 20% per annum; and 

 In excess of the BSE 200 Index. 
 
The external performance fee payable was to be 10% (excluding GST) of the amount by which the Portfolio 
Return exceeds 20% per annum, after adjusting for any surplus/deficit from the previous period. The maximum 
performance fee payable in any one year was capped at 5% per annum of the Portfolio NAV at the last 
Business Day of the relevant preceding year. 
 
The financial arrangements between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Olympus, represent no 
cost to the Group and are eliminated on consolidation. Accordingly, under these new arrangements the 
external cost for the Group reduced from 0.75% p.a. to 0.40%p.a. In addition, transaction fees of 0.15% per 
trade have been saved. 
 

 Consolidated 

 June 
2011 

$ 

June 
2010 

$ 

KMUK Investment Management fee  - 243,728 

KMUK Transaction fee - 100,943 

PAMS Investment Advisory Fee  3,554 102,093 

PAMS Performance fee ^ ** - 473,139 

Amounts paid and payable to the Investment Manager and Manager for 
the period 3,554 919,903 

^ Management reviews the return of the portfolio against the requirements to earn the annual performance fee and if necessary 
accrues the performance fee on a monthly basis, though entitlement is only calculated annually. The above number is a total accrual 
only for the period to date. 
** The PAMS Performance fee of $473,139 is accrued until 30 June 2010, however the calculation period end is 6 July 2010 and at this 
date the performance fee reduced to $335,668. 
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NOTE 28: COMPANY DETAILS 
 

The registered office of the Company is: The principal place of business is: 

India Equities Fund Limited India Equities Fund Limited 

Level 11, 139 Macquarie Street Level 11, 139 Macquarie Street 

SYDNEY  NSW  2000 SYDNEY  NSW  2000 
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5. DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION 
 
The directors of the company declare that: 
 
1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 28 to 82, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and: 

 
(a) comply with Accounting Standards, the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; and 
 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of the performance 
for the year ended on that date of the Group; 

 
2. the Chairman and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that: 

 
(a) the financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in 

accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 
 

(b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting 
Standards and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board; and 

 
(c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view; 

 
 
3. in the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Group identified in 
Note 16 will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Director 

 

Mr. Gabriel Radzyminski 

Dated this day of August 2011  29
th
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6. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of India Equities Fund Limited and Controlled Entities 
(the consolidated entity), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the directors‘ declaration of the company and the consolidated entity comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year‘s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in 
accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor‘s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity‘s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity‘s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
  

Level 10, 530 Collins Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 
 

T  +61 (0)3 8635 1800 
F  +61 (0)3 8102 3400 
 

www.moorestephens.com.au 
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Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of India Equities Fund Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as 
at the time of this auditor‘s report. 
 
Opinion  

 
In our opinion: 
 
a) the financial report of India Equities Fund Limited and Controlled Entities is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity‘s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1. 
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 13 of the directors‘ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2011. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of 
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 
In our opinion the remuneration report of India Equities Fund Limited and Controlled Entities for the year 
ended 30 June 2011 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
 
 
Moore Stephens 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
Grant Sincock 

Partner 
 
Melbourne, 29 August 2011 
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7. ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Information as at 18 August 2011 
 
Shares (ASX:INE) 
The number of investors holding less than a marketable parcel of 8,772 shares ($0.06 per share on 18 August 2011) is 
1,360 holding 5,191,630 securities. 
 
 

Range 
Number of 

Holders 
Numbers of 
Securities % of Total 

1 – 1,000 136 58,494 0.05 

1,001 – 5,000 975 3,108,070 2.55 

5,001 – 10,000 462 3,831,087 3.15 

10,001 – 100,000 873 26,616,887 21.85 

Over 100,001 83 88,198,528 72.40 

    

Total 2,529 121,813,066 100.00 

 

Security Holder 
Number of 
Securities 

% Of 
Securities 

G W HOLDINGS PTY LTD <EDWINA A/C> 26,038,446 21.38 

MCNEIL NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 18,107,113 14.86 

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 9,613,089 7.89 

MR VICTOR JOHN PLUMMER 3,921,769 3.22 

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 3,168,458 2.60 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,878,376 2.36 

RBC DEXIA INVESTOR SERVICES AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <MLCI 
A/C> 2,317,252 1.90 

UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD <TP00014 15 A/C> 1,166,668 0.96 

AUSTRALIAN MINERALS CORPORATION PTY LTD <JAP-FEBP A/C> 1,141,010 0.94 

MRS ENID BERYL LEVER + MS CHRISTINE FIELD LEVER <LEVER FAMILY A/C> 1,013,131 0.83 

ELINORA INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 908,365 0.75 

FATS PTY LTD <MACIB FAMILY A/C> 900,000 0.74 

B W ROFE PTY LIMITED 870,000 0.71 

AUSTRALIAN MINERALS CORPORATION PTY LTD <FEBP A/C> 858,990 0.71 

COMSEC NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 672,000 0.55 

AGENDA PTY LTD <SUPER FUND A/C> 500,000 0.41 

ANTHONY AUSTRALIA PTY LTD <SUPER FUND A/C> 500,000 0.41 

MR JOHN SCOTT STEWART RICHARDSON 500,000 0.41 

LUBA PERRY 490,000 0.40 

AFTERNOON LIGHT PTY LTD <LBF SUPER FUND A/C> 412,460 0.34 

TOTAL 75,977,127 62.37 

 

Substantial Beneficial Holders 
Number of 
Securities 

% Of 
Securities 

G W HOLDINGS PTY LTD  26,038,446 21.38 

SIBLOW PTY LTD 18,107,113 14.86 

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION 9,613,089 7.89 
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7.   ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Voting Rights 
On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or by proxy holding stapled securities in the Company shall have one 
vote and upon a poll each stapled security shall have one vote. 

 Audit & Risk Committee 
As at the date of the Directors‘ Report, the economic entity had established an Audit & Risk Committee of the Board of Directors 
(refer Corporate Governance Statement). 

Holdings of Securities 
The Company has no longer holds any securities as at 30 June 2011. 

Brokerage 
During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Company recorded 34 transactions (2010:382) in securities. Total brokerage paid and 
accrued was $Nil (2010: $297,087) for the year. 
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8. CORPORATE DIRECTORY 
 
 
INDIA EQUITIES FUND LIMITED 
 
ABN: 15 121 415 576 

Level 11, 139 Macquarie Street 
Sydney   NSW   2000 
Telephone: +61 2 8014 1188 
Website: www.indiaequitiesfund.com.au 

 

DIRECTORS 
 
Gabriel Radzyminski  (Chairman & Non-Executive Director) 
James Chirnside (Non-Executive Director) 
Alex Feher (Non-Executive Director)  
 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Mark Licciardo 
Mertons Corporate Services Pty Ltd 
Level 6, 350 Collins Street  
Melbourne  VIC  3000 
 

AUDITOR 
 
Moore Stephens 
Level 10, 530 Collins Street 
Melbourne Vic 3000 

 
ACCOUNTANT & TAXATION ADVISOR 
 
Hanson Porter Curzon Pty Ltd 
Level 6, 350 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 

 
LEGAL ADVISORS 
 
Watson Mangioni 
Level 13, 50 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

 
SHARE REGISTRAR 
 
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
GPO Box 2975 
Melbourne  VIC   3001 
Telephone: 1300 850 505 (Australia) 
  +61 3 9415 4000 (Outside Australia) 

 
ASX CODE 
 
INE fully paid ordinary shares 




